
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 3 September 2021 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Monday, 13 September 2021 
beginning at 

7:00 pm 
in the 

Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, Eastleigh SO50 9PG 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor David Airey 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following 
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
midday on Friday 10 September 2021. Please let us know if you wish to attend 
the meeting in person so that we can manage numbers.  We encourage those 
attending to wear a mask and take a test to ensure that they are not at risk of 
infecting anyone with Covid-19. 
 

5.   Committee Recommendations  
 

6.   Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy (Pages 11 - 50) 
 

7.   Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Pages 51 - 92) 
 

8.   Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space Policy (Pages 93 - 100) 
 

9.   Town Centre Principles  
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 18 October 2021 at 7:00 pm 

In the Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, 
Eastleigh SO50 9PG 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

CABINET 
 

Thursday, 29 July 2021  (7:00 pm – 7:43 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Bicknell, Airey, Corben, Craig and 
Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Garton and Gomer 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Kyrle 
 

________________________________________ 
 

32. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion.  
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

33. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees. 
 

34. APPOINTMENTS 
 
Issue 
 
In addition to attending Council meetings and other constituency work, 
Councillors and some staff are required to sit as representatives of the 
Council on other organisations and agencies.  
 
Consideration 
 
The Council are required to make strategic appointments to partner 
agencies. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve the following appointments: 
 
(i) Citizen’s Advice Bureau – Councillor Tanya Park 
(ii) Director of Solent Freeport Consortium Limited – Councillor 

Derek Pretty 
 

35. COUNCILLORS' ALLOWANCES 
 
Issue 
 

13

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 require 
that every authority publicise, within its area, the sum paid by it in that year 
under the scheme to each Councillor and co-opted member in respect of 
basic allowance, special responsibility allowance, dependents' carers 
allowance, travelling and subsistence allowance. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration 
 
It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
Regulations 2003 that the actual allowances paid relating to basic 
allowance, special responsibility allowance, dependents' carers allowance, 
travelling and 
subsistence allowance are published in the local press. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet note the allowances paid in 2020/2021 contained in 
Appendix A to this report. 
 

36. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 
 
Issue 
 
The Council is reporting a favourable variance for the year of £347,000 
compared to the rolling budget after Budget Management items of £30,000 
have been carried forward. (Paper 8) 
 
Consideration  
 
Capital expenditure for 2020/21 was £51.145m in-line with the rolling 
budget. The understanding of both elements of monitoring enables a full 
picture of the Council for 2020/21. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1)  Note the financial performance of the General Fund and 
Community Investment Programme (CIP) as at 31 March 2021; 

(2) Note the Council’s operational performance; 
(3) Note the Treasury Management Outturn Position as at 31st 

March 2021 (Appendix E); and 
(4) Recommend to Council to approve the changes to the 

Prudential Indicators (Appendix D) 
 

37. ITCHEN VALLEY COUNTRY PARK INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS 
 
Issue 
 

24



3 
 

Itchen Valley Country Park (IVCP) is seen as a ‘jewel in the crown’ of 
Eastleigh Borough. For many years there has been an ambition for the 
development of a ‘master plan’ to guide investment into its infrastructure 
and realise the Council’s ambitions for this key community asset. (Paper 9) 
 
Consideration 
 
Itchen Valley Country Park (IVCP) is a much-loved community facility and 
visitor attraction for the residents of the Borough and beyond. Its 
popularity, especially since the start of the pandemic, has continued to 
increase with a total of 240,860 visitors during 20/21. This compares to the 
previous year’s figures of 228,355 for 19/20 and 218,153 for 18/19. It plays 
an important role in the wellbeing of residents, providing opportunities for 
recreation, health, fitness and events that reinforce social cohesion and 
inclusivity and offering an escape from the built environment. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) endorse the recommendations of the architect’s report shown 
in Appendix 1; 

2) approve a budget of £3,331,000 for the Itchen Valley Country 
Park infrastructure improvements Project; £182,320 to be 
funded from Developers’ contributions as approved by Hedge 
End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Local Area Committee on 
8 March 2021, £1,000,000 to be funded from New Homes Bonus 
and £2,149,000 to be financed through borrowing, which will be 
repaid from existing and new income streams at Itchen Valley 
Country Park; and 

3) approve the project to proceed with detailed design, 
submission of a planning application by the architect on behalf 
of the Council, and to tender for the appointment of a design 
team and subsequent contractors as outlined in this report. 

 
38. HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL BUDGET CONSULTATION 

 
Issue 
 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) is consulting publicly on the options for 
finding £80M savings over 22/23 and 23/24, including reductions in Public 
Health service budgets. The Council’s response has been agreed under 
delegated powers due to the consultation deadline falling before this 
Cabinet meeting date. (Paper 10) 
 
Consideration 
 
HCC is consulting publicly on the options for finding around £80M savings 
over 22/23 and 23/24 (in addition to savings of £560M already found over 
the last 13 years from targeting services, sharing and selling services to 

35



4 
 

external organisations, charging residents for services, and procurement). 
The consultation runs from 7/6/21 to 18/7/21. HCC is simultaneously 
consulting (from 14/6/21 to 9/8/21) on reductions to Public Health budgets. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet notes and ratifies the Council’s response to Hampshire 
County Council’s ‘Balancing the Budget’ and Public Health 
consultations at Appendix 1. 
 
 

39. LOCAL NHS CONSULTATIONS' 
 
Issue 
 
The necessities born from the COVID-19 pandemic have changed the way 
in which General Practice (GP) surgeries have been functioning and 
offering access to care for their patients. More services are now provided 
on a remote basis, although the offer of face-to-face consultations remains 
where appropriate, and this will remain important for some patients who 
are not able to have their needs met remotely by telephone or online 
consultations. Vaccination Centres have also been implemented in 
existing GP surgeries, displacing patients to nearby alternative facilities. 
GP Surgeries are now working in collaboration with each other as Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs), building resilience, utilising efficiencies, and 
extending the range of services available to support GPs in delivering care 
to their patients. (Paper 11) 
 
Consideration 
 
Changes such as these in the NHS are beyond the immediate control of 
the Council; however, the Council seeks to influence service changes on 
behalf of residents. The Council has established good relationships with a 
range of organisations that make up the NHS as well as the Voluntary and 
Faith sector and other charitable organisations and are working with them 
to secure the best health provision possible for residents. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet reviewed the NHS proposal for the Bursledon and 
Blackthorn merger, and the Living Well Partnership merger, and 
agreed a representation to make to the consultations (attached). 
 
[NOTE: Councillor Garton spoke during this item in relation to 
appointments at GP surgeries.] 
 

40. VEHICLE AND PLANT REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME 
 
Issue 
 

46



5 
 

The vehicle fleet operated by the Council produced 1,141 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) during the 2019-2020 financial year. This 
accounted for 15% of the Council’s emissions and was the second largest 
contributor to our carbon emissions after procurement emissions of 
5,347tCO2e (69%). The way the fleet is renewed is a vital part of the 
Council’s response to the climate emergency and achieving carbon 
neutrality for its operations by 2025. (Paper 11a) 
 
Consideration 
 
Neighbourhood Services have been developing a plan to transition the 
Council fleet to electric or Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1)  approve the additional budget of £874,270 to the Vehicle and 

Plant Replacement Programme funded by 50% capital receipts 
and 50% borrowing which will be split between 21/22 and 22/23 
financial year due to the lead in time of the vehicles; 

(2)  approve the additional revenue growth of £51,000 for ten years 
for borrowing costs; 

(3)  note the trial period of using Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) 
and if successful switching the whole Council fleet to this fuel in 
the interim whilst other fuel types are explored; and 

(4)  ask staff to continue trials for alternative fuelled vehicles and 
report back their findings. 

 
41. FUNDING FOR FREEPORT 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve a contribution of £50,000 for the Freeport.  
 

42. EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

57



6 
 

 
43. NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES STAFFING AND RESILIENCE 

 
Issue 
 
To consider Neighbourhood Services staffing and resilience. (paper 13) 
 
Considerations  
 
The report sets out matters relating to Neighbourhood Services staffing 
and resilience. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
The Leader thanked officers for their hard work in organising meetings in 
person and praised their efforts in making it feel like a pre Covid-19 
meeting whilst maintaining safety.  
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

44. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

45. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2021 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 
M6851 
 

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE

68



Recommendation at Cabinet 29/7/21 - Response of Eastleigh Borough Council 

to NHS consultations July 2021 

 

On the proposed merger of Bursledon and Blackthorn practices 

The Council supports new remote and digital ways for people to receive health 

services; however, some residents are not able to use such technology, and a face-

to-face appointment is often still needed.  

Council is disappointed that having worked in partnership with the NHS to create a 

purpose-built GP facility at the Lowford Centre, the residents of the Bursledon and 

Old Netley area will lose local provision of daytime GP services under these 

proposals.  This area includes some of the hardest-pressed residents in terms of 

socio-economic deprivation and health outcomes within the borough of Eastleigh; 

under the NHS proposals these residents will have to travel much further to 

Blackthorn Surgery for daytime GP appointments. This risks such residents not 

seeking health advice and treatment at the right time, opportunities for prevention 

being missed, worse health outcomes and more cost for the NHS. 

The Council formally OBJECTS to loss of weekday bookable GP appointments for 

the Bursledon community at Lowford and urges the NHS to amend its proposals. 

 

On the proposed merger of St Luke’s and Botley practice within the Living 

Well Partnership 

The Council is concerned that the proposals will limit access to local GP services for 

residents of Hedge End and Botley. The Council seeks assurances from the Living 

Well Partnership and the Clinical Commissioning Group that patients of St Luke’s 

and Botley surgeries will not be forced to travel to Southampton surgeries for GP 

appointments. 

7

Minute Item 39

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



CABINET  

Monday, 13 September 2021  

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY 

Report of the Executive Head of Health and Wellbeing  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet notes the changes and approves the updated Public 
Sector Housing (PSH) Financial Assistance Policy. 
 

Summary 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to administer disabled facilities grants (DFGs) to pay for 
adaptations that will allow residents to remain living in their homes for longer. For adults, 
this is means tested. The Council is required to have a policy on how grants (and other 
financial assistance) are provided and as the current policy was approved in 2014, it is 
now due for review.  
 
This updated policy attached (appendix 1), consolidates the previously separate Financial 
Assistance Policy and Disabled Facilities Grants Eligible Works Policy into one. It also 
simplifies and clarifies the language relating to eligible works and brings in the additions of 
extending criteria for discretionary grants, charging for project assistance on self-funded 
adaptations, and one new condition to those that are attached to any DFGs which gives 
the Council the ability to apply any additional condition(s) where considered necessary on 
individual cases. 

Statutory Powers 
 

 Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

 Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 

 DCLG Circular 05/2003 - Housing Renewal 

 Housing Act 2004 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This proposal outlines how the Council will meet its statutory duty. The quality 
and safety of housing and the ability to use it independently and with dignity is 
a significant determinant of a person’s physical and mental health and 
wellbeing and those in socio-economic deprivation often have limited access 
to accommodation of an appropriate standard or means by which to 
independently adapt it as required. The health and wellbeing of all residents in 

11

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

the borough is a strategic priority, and this policy will contribute towards the 
following objectives: 

 To enable health and wellbeing 

 To tackle health inequality and deprivation 

Introduction 

2. The Council has a statutory duty to deliver DFGs. These grants are given to 
provide adaptations that fall within one of 11 specified categories to allow 
disabled or elderly residents to remain living safely in their own homes.  

The principle behind the DFG service is that relatively small preventative 
measures can have broader positive effects. By providing preventative 
adaptations to peoples’ homes you:  

 Reduce the risk of falls or injuries and thereby potential hospital 
admissions. 

 Help residents to maintain independence by reducing the risk of falls or 
injuries, which can reduce the need for expensive social care 
packages.  

 Help to maintain independence which can also help prevent loss of 
confidence and social isolation, with their associated mental health 
impacts, that can often follow as a result of falls/injuries in the elderly 
and disabled. 

The Council provide other forms of financial assistance, some of which are 
discretionary provisions. However, they continue to be provided as they all 
directly support the Council’s aim of helping to improve healthier 
lifestyles/wellbeing through quality and safe housing for residents.  

This policy consolidates the previously separate Financial Assistance Policy 
and Disabled Facilities Grants Eligible Works Policy into one place. It also 
broadens the criteria for discretionary grants to now include an option for 
mental health related works that fall outside the remit of DFGs. This reflects 
the broader acknowledgement and conversations around mental health that 
are now happening in society.  

This policy additionally brings in administrative charges for the discretionary 
service of project assistance for self-funded adaptations. The charges 
proposed have been calculated based on estimated time for the average 
activities that would be included at the hourly rate for the respective officer 
level for that activity, with the intention being that the charges are set so as to 
allow provision of this service to be cost neutral. The cancellation costs have 
considered the time and resources that may still have been expended prior to 
this point are balanced by the inclusion of a 14-day cooling-off period. 

Finally, an additional condition has been added to those that are attached to 
DFGs is one that gives the Council the ability to apply any additional 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

condition(s) where considered necessary on individual cases. This condition 
strengthens the Council’s ability (where needed) to ensure the budget for 
adaptations is spent in a sound and efficient manner which ensures that 
clients are seriously considering the longer-term requirements and 
appropriateness of such adaptations. 

Consultation 

3. Internal consultation was made with the relevant Corporate Director, Portfolio 
Holders and the legal services team.  

An external consultation was undertaken between 7 December 2020 and 15 
January 2021. The consultation was targeted to key stakeholder 
organisations. Draft copies of the updated policy were sent to those below for 
any comments. No comments were received from this external consultation.  

 Eastleigh and District Disability Forum  

 Age UK (Eastleigh Branch) 

 Abri Housing Association 

 VIVID Housing Association 

 Hampshire County Council (Child Services – OT Team) 

 Hampshire County Council (Adults Health and Care – OT Team) 
 

Unfortunately, due to the combination in the early part of the year of the 
Senior Leadership Team restructure, the period with the Strategy Lead post 
vacant and a legislative change in another area of the teams work which due 
to the very short time window for implementation had to take priority, the 
policy has not been able to be brought forward until now 

 

Financial Implications 

4. There is no immediate financial implication from the approval of this policy. 

The intention with the charges is to operate on a ‘cost neutral’ basis for this 
discretionary provision and as the service is caveated to only be provided 
when capacity within the team allows, it is not appropriate for any income 
target to be stipulated. If any income should get generated it will be ring-
fenced to be rolled back into the main DFG budget.  

Risk Assessment 

5. If this policy is not approved the Council would be failing to ensure it meets 
the statutory duty in the most efficient and effective manner. The Council 
needs to periodically review its policies to ensure they reflect current best 
practice and, including changes in society and technology, for the benefit of its 
residents. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to advancing equality of opportunity. 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The Council is committed to ensuring good housing conditions for its 
residents. Approval of the policy will result in anticipated improvement for 
people in social deprivation and/or those with protected characteristics, 
particularly for age and disability. 
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was carried out when the policy was 
first developed. This EIA has been updated in line with the policy amendments 
to ensure the Council has had due regard to any changes which could impact 
people with a protected characteristic. This is attached at appendix 2.   
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

7. This policy does not have any direct impact on climate change or 
environmental implications.   

 

Conclusion 

8. The Council has a statutory duty to provide DFGs. By approving this policy, it 
ensures clarity for the public and Councillors on how this duty is met. It also 
ensures that changes in wider society and technology since the previous 
policy was written have been considered and so provide confidence that the 
Council is providing the services.  

 
SENIOR DFG AND HOUSING ENFORCEMENT OFFICER 

Date: 13 September 2021  
Contact Officer: Elizabeth Hawkins, Andrew Saunders  
Tel No: 07920 710 677 
e-mail: elizabeth.hawkins@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: 

 Appendix 1 – Updated Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy 

 Appendix 2 – Updated Equality Impact Assessment  
 

 

 

 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

List Background Papers: None. 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING  
 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 

17



 

2 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Scope of Policy ................................................................................................. 4 

3.0 Legislation & Guidance..................................................................................... 4 

4.0 General Provisions ........................................................................................... 5 

5.0 Financial Assistance Provisions ....................................................................... 6 

5.1 Low-cost Loans ............................................................................................. 6 

5.2 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)................................................... 6 

5.3 Discretionary DFG payment .......................................................................... 6 

5.4 Relocation Grant ........................................................................................... 7 

5.5 Temporary Accommodation (to facilitate a DFG) .......................................... 7 

5.6 Considerations .............................................................................................. 7 

5.7 Other Funding ............................................................................................... 8 

6.0 Eligibility for financial assistance ...................................................................... 8 

7.0 Advice, Information & Other services ............................................................... 9 

8.0 Complaints ....................................................................................................... 9 

9.0 Exceptional Circumstances .............................................................................. 9 

Appendix 1.0 Low-cost Loan Provider(s) & Products ........................................... 11 

1.1 Current Provider .......................................................................................... 11 

1.2 Regulatory Oversight & Financial Advice .................................................... 11 

1.3 Alternative Providers ................................................................................... 11 

1.4 Current Products ......................................................................................... 11 

1.5 General terms ............................................................................................. 12 

Appendix 2.0 DFG Procedures ............................................................................ 13 

2.1 Applications ................................................................................................. 13 

2.2 Approvals .................................................................................................... 13 

2.3 Completions ................................................................................................ 14 

2.4 Procurement arrangements & exemptions .................................................. 14 

2.5 Priority levels ............................................................................................... 14 

2.6 Asbestos ..................................................................................................... 15 

2.6.1 When a report is needed. ..................................................................... 15 

2.6.2 Other matters ........................................................................................ 15 

Appendix 3.0 DFG Eligible Works ........................................................................ 17 

18



 

3 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

3.1 Mandatory items .......................................................................................... 17 

3.1.1 Criteria .................................................................................................. 17 

3.1.2 Limitations of items provided ................................................................ 17 

3.2 Non-Mandatory items .................................................................................. 20 

Appendix 4.0 Discretionary DFG Procedure ........................................................ 22 

4.1 Principles .................................................................................................... 22 

4.2 Criteria ........................................................................................................ 22 

4.3 Limitations ................................................................................................... 22 

Appendix 5.0 DFG Palliative Cases ..................................................................... 23 

5.1 Eligible works .............................................................................................. 23 

5.2 Palliative DFG Conditions ........................................................................... 23 

5.3 Financial assessment requirement .............................................................. 23 

5.4 Priority ......................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix 6.0 Project assistance fee structure & service ..................................... 24 

6.1 Scope of service .......................................................................................... 24 

6.2 Fee Structure .............................................................................................. 24 

6.3 Explanation of fee structure......................................................................... 24 

6.4 Payment ...................................................................................................... 25 

6.5 Cancellations ............................................................................................... 25 

Appendix 7.0 DFG & Loan Conditions ................................................................. 26 

General conditions ................................................................................................ 26 

Repayment conditions .......................................................................................... 26 

Actions which may prejudice future applications .................................................. 28 

Properties available for letting: ............................................................................. 28 

Case Specific Conditions: ..................................................................................... 28 

 

 

 

  

19



 

4 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

1.0 Introduction 
This policy looks at the financial support available and the process involved for 

residents with a disability who need help to adapt their homes or are elderly or 

otherwise cash poor and need help to carry out repairs to their homes. 

Across England the population is ageing, there are high numbers of disabled working 

age adults and rising numbers of families with disabled children. The majority live in 

ordinary housing, but most homes are not well designed for disabled people. The 

2018-19 English House Condition Survey found that 31% of all households had one 

or more household members with a long term illness or disability and 17% of owner 

occupied homes failed to meet the decent homes standards with almost 1 in 5 (19%) 

of residents 65 years or over being more likely to live in a non-decent home1.  

Our aim is to support more people to live in suitable housing so they can stay 

independent for longer. Many disabled and older people spend most of their time in 

their home and the accessibility, warmth and comfort of that home has a vital role to 

play in health and wellbeing. For disabled people of working age, the home also 

needs to be a place that makes it easy for them to earn a living. For families with 

disabled children the home should enable children to grow, develop and lead as 

normal a life as possible. 

Providing suitable adapted housing or helping with essential repairs is important to 

maintaining good health, improving quality of life and reducing health inequalities in 

the borough.  The PSH financial assistance policy will play a vital role in addressing 

the two strategic priorities of tackling social deprivation and health inequalities and 

enabling health and wellbeing and therefore compliments the overarching Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy.   

The PSH financial assistance policy will also support the Accommodation for Elderly 

People and Those in Need of Care SPG (Supplementary Planning Guidance).  

 

2.0 Scope of Policy 
This policy encompasses the financial assistance options and provisions the Council 

deliver through the Private Sector Housing team within the Health & Wellbeing 

theme.  

3.0 Legislation & Guidance 
This policy has been written with consideration given to all relevant national 

guidance & legislation, the key pieces of which are: 

 
1 MHCLG English Housing Survey: Headline Report, 2018-19 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/860076/2018-
19_EHS_Headline_Report.pdf  

20

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/860076/2018-19_EHS_Headline_Report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/860076/2018-19_EHS_Headline_Report.pdf


 

5 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• Housing Act 20042 

• Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 19963 

• Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 20024 

• Briefing Paper 03011 – Disabled Facilities Grants for home adaptations5 

• Briefing Paper 1617 – Assistance with home repairs/improvements6 

It is under the above that the Council has a statutory duty to provide grant aided 

adaptions for disabled person & have ongoing consideration of housing conditions 

within our district to determine what action is appropriate to alleviate hazards 

identified. There are also general powers given to provide financial assistance 

towards the repair, improvement and adaption of dwellings.  

The aim of the guidance & legislation, which should be viewed as complimentary to 

each other rather than in isolation, is that through repairs and/or adaptions to 

people’s homes there can be a reduced need for people to relocate, for supporting 

care provisions and a reduced risk of accidents which may lead to hospital 

admissions.  

4.0 General Provisions 
The Council will give due consideration to every valid application for financial 

assistance received. Each application will be the subject of an affordability test, 

unless specified in the exemptions outlined in the eligibility section. 

Where demand for assistance exceeds the capacity of the service an assessment of 

the case will be used to prioritise applications according to need in relation to the 

condition of the property and its effects on the health of the occupant(s).  

The Lead officer for Private Sector Housing and Executive Head of Health & 

Wellbeing will be responsible for monitoring compliance with this policy. They will 

ensure this policy is updated as necessary and as a minimum reviewed every 5 

years.  

All decisions relating to the provision of financial assistance to homeowners and 

tenants with repairing obligations shall be taken having due regard to this policy.  

All activities relating to this policy must be carried out in accordance with guidelines 

set in place by the Lead officer for Private Sector Housing and Executive Head of 

Health & Wellbeing.  

 
2 Housing Act 2004 – Section 3: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/3 
3 Housing Grants, Construction & Regeneration Act 1996: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents 
4 Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/contents/made 
5 House of Commons Library Briefing Paper 3011, July 2018 – Disabled Facilities Grants for Home Adaptations: 
file:///C:/Users/elizabeth/Downloads/SN03011.pdf  
6 House of Commons Library Briefing Paper 1617, June 2017 – Assistance with Home Repairs/Improvements: 
file:///C:/Users/elizabeth/Downloads/SN01617%20(2).pdf 

21

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/3
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/contents/made
file:///C:/Users/elizabeth/Downloads/SN03011.pdf
file:///C:/Users/elizabeth/Downloads/SN01617%20(2).pdf


 

6 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

For the purposes of this policy, the term “dwelling” shall be inclusive of houseboats 

and park homes (in accordance with the amendment made by the RRO 20027).   

5.0 Financial Assistance Provisions 
The range of financial assistance, subject to availability, will include: 

5.1 Low-cost Loans 

Financial products will be provided by an approved third party. Providers will be 

approved by the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 

Social Policy & the Head of Finance. Details of current provider(s) and products are 

shown in Appendix 1. 

Loans are currently provided to assist homeowners with: 

• Repairs 

• Topping-up mandatory DFG grants 

• Bringing empty homes back into use 

• Installation of energy efficiency measures 

A range of loan repayment options are available.  

5.2 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 

Mandatory DFGs up to a maximum of £30,000 per application will be provided in 

accordance with the Council’s statutory duty under the Act8.  

Funding of the DFG service will be by means primarily of the Better Care Fund 

(BCF) allocation awarded to the Council from Ministry of Housing, Communities & 

Local Government (MHCLG) with some additional funding from the Council’s capital 

investment programme9. 

The DFG service will be provided in accordance with the procedures and 

requirements set by the Lead officer for Private Sector Housing and Executive Head 

of Health & Wellbeing which are outlined in Appendix 2 and with due reference also 

being given to the eligible works policy (Appendix 3). 

5.3 Discretionary DFG payment 

A discretionary DFG payment up to a maximum of £5,000 per application may be 

awarded. 

Funding of discretionary DFG payments will be as part of the main DFG budget 

outlined above. A cap will be set by the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing at the 

start of each financial year on the total amount of discretionary payments that can be 

 
7 Regulator Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002, Schedule 3 (2) : 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/schedule/3/paragraph/2/made 
8 Housing Grants, Construction & Regeneration Act 1996: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/section/1 
9 In 2020/21 there is a provisionally agreed amount of approx. £1.3m for the total main DFG budget. 

22

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1860/schedule/3/paragraph/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/section/1


 

7 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

provided10. The cap set will take in to account the demand in the preceding financial 

year for discretionary payments alongside the overall DFG budget position. 

Discretionary DFG payments will be considered in line with procedure & criteria set 

by Lead officer for Private Sector Housing and Executive Head of Health & 

Wellbeing, which are outlined in Appendix 4. 

A discretionary DFG payment can also be provided for palliative cases and will be 

considered in accordance with the procedure & criteria set in Appendix 5. 

5.4 Relocation Grant 

A relocation grant up to a maximum of £3,000 may be awarded to encourage 

applicants with disabilities to move when their existing home is unsuitable for 

adaptation. The grant will only be approved following acceptable quotes being 

obtained & submitted by the applicants and is to cover items such as: 

• removal costs,  

• the disconnection & reconnection of services,  

• an allowance towards replacement carpets/floor coverings.  

Funding of the relocation grant will be as part of the main DFG budget. 

5.5 Temporary Accommodation (to facilitate a DFG) 

A grant for temporary accommodation while DFG works are undertaken is available 

for owner occupiers who are in receipt of a passporting benefit11. The Council will 

only fund up to 50% of the total cost of the accommodation (care packages are 

excluded).  

This funding will only be available: 

• Where the required DFG works are unable to be undertaken with the 

applicant (and any family) in situ. 

• Where all other options are proved to have been exhausted (i.e. family, 

friends or charitable organisations). 

• For only the duration of the DFG works. 

Funding of the temporary accommodation grant will be as part of the main DFG 

budget.  

5.6 Considerations 

Each of the above grants shall be considered on its individual merits and determined 

by the Lead officer for Private Sector Housing and/or Executive Head of Health & 

 
10 In 2020/21 the cap is to be set at £25,000. 
11 Benefits which are already means-tested and so negate the need to apply the test of resources typically used 

on mandatory DFGs. Those benefits which are passporting are listed on the Council’s website at 

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/information-for-homeowners/disabled-facilities-grants. 

23

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/information-for-homeowners/disabled-facilities-grants


 

8 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Wellbeing having had due regard to this policy. Due regard will also be had for the 

capacity contained within the current agreed budget.  

5.7 Other Funding 

Applicants requiring assistance for sums less than, typically, £300 shall be referred 

to the local Credit Union.  

A Handyperson Service is provided for elderly and/or disabled residents within the 

Borough with subsidised hourly charge for clients. The subsidy provided is funded 

from part of the main DFG budget to a maximum of £10,000 per annum. 

6.0 Eligibility for financial assistance 
DFGs are subject to a statutory test of resources.  

The same test of resources will be used for relocation grants but any client 

contribution will be at the discretion of the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing. 

Where the test of resources determines that an applicant has sufficient 

income/equity to meet the cost of the works from a mainstream source they will be 

offered information and practical assistance to help them secure an alternative 

appropriate funding package. 

Applicants whose financial circumstance exclude them from accessing finance from 

a mainstream source shall, subject to availability, be considered for a low-cost loan. 

Under no circumstance will an offer of financial assistance in the form of a 

low-cost loan be made if it is not affordable for the client. 

The test of resources shall not apply to the following forms of financial assistance: 

• Grants to help people relocate to a property that is more suited to their needs 

where this will result in a saving of mandatory DFG funding. 

• Mandatory DFGs where the disabled person in the household is a dependent 

child. 

• Mandatory DFGs where the applicant is in receipt of a passporting benefit12 

• Discretionary DFGs where it is a palliative case.  

• Loans to bring empty dwellings back into use. 

• Loans for owners who wish to install more energy efficient measures in their 

home. 

The award of any grant or loan shall be subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 

7. 

 
12 Benefits which are already means-tested and so negate the need to apply the test of resources otherwise 

used on mandatory DFGs. Those benefits which are passporting are listed on the Council’s website at 

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/information-for-homeowners/disabled-facilities-grants. 

24

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/information-for-homeowners/disabled-facilities-grants


 

9 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

7.0 Advice, Information & Other services 
The Council will provide information and advice to applicants and to the wider public 

on the financial assistance options available. Council officers are not able to provide 

financial advice on loan products, although Parity Trust may provide this in 

appropriate cases.  

Information on assistance available, including copies of the Council’s policies and 

strategies is available on the website – www.eastleigh.gov.uk. An information leaflet 

on DFGs is also available on request. Parity Trust website has information on their 

products. See www.ParityTrust.org.uk.   

The Private Sector Housing Team includes surveyors who are able to assess repairs 

and works needed to properties and give an estimate of the likely approximate costs. 

They are also able to assist with the appointment of contractors and the 

management of works where the client is particularly vulnerable or is otherwise 

requested.  

Where an applicant requests assistance in arrangements/management of works, 

either in connection to bringing an empty property back into use or in undertaking 

disabled adaptations where the test of resources has determined they have sufficient 

income/equity to cover the cost of works, the Council may charge an administration 

fee for any assistance given. This fee may be waived only at the discretion of the 

Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing. Any charge levied will be in accordance with 

the fee structure set out in Appendix 6 

The extent of help provided will depend on the staff resources available and the 

needs and other options for assistance of the client.  

8.0 Complaints 
If you have a problem with the service provided, please contact the Case Officer in 

the first instance. If you remain dissatisfied with the service provided, a formal 

complaint can be made in accordance with Eastleigh Borough Council’s Complaints 

Procedure. For details please visit our website: https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-

council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx 

9.0 Exceptional Circumstances 
Should a pandemic (such as the Covid-19 outbreak) or another similar event occur 

which leads to exceptional national circumstances, temporary adjustments to the 

delivery of provisions under this policy may need to be made. In such an instance 

any changes to service will be based on an assessment of risk to both staff, clients 

and external partners with due consideration as to those in society identified as more 

vulnerable and any government issued guidance or requirements/restrictions to be 

followed.  

25

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.paritytrust.org.uk/
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx


 

10 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Where any adjustments to services have to be implemented all possible efforts will 

be made to find temporary alternatives or measures, using all available technology, 

to ensure we preserve as much continuation and access (albeit maybe with 

extended process time) as can be reasonably achieved.  

An equality impact assessment will be undertaken where any temporary adjustment 

to services is implemented. This will be carried out ideally prior to any changes but, 

where circumstances do not allow, will be as soon after implementation as is 

possible. 

 

  

26



 

11 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 1.0  Low-cost Loan Provider(s) & Products 
 

1.1 Current Provider 

The loan provider currently used is Parity Trust which is a not for profit community 

financial institution. The Council subsidises loans through Parity Trust. There is no 

arrangement or administration fee on each loan, though there is an annual 

management fee paid to Parity Trust. The cost of taking out a Legal Charge on a 

person’s home has to be paid. 

1.2 Regulatory Oversight & Financial Advice 

Parity Trust are registered by the Financial Service Authority (FSA) and can provide 

advice, including financial advice to clients seeking to use their loan products. 

1.3 Alternative Providers 

The Council may work with other financial provider(s) from time to time. In these 

instances, the financial provider will equally be approved by the Executive Head of 

Health & Wellbeing, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Social Policy & Head of Finance 

being satisfied where procurement requirements apply these have been followed, 

before any work commences. All reasonable checks will be made to ensure any new 

providers are suitably registered with a recognised industry body (such as the FSA) 

and that the Council is satisfied they have appropriate policies and procedures in 

place to ensure their service is provided in an equal & fair manner for all our 

residents.  

1.4 Current Products 

Below is a list of the current loan products available through Parity Trust. 

• An equity release package secured against the applicant’s dwelling 

• A discounted capital and interest repayment loan up to £30,000  

o secured against the applicant’s dwelling.  

o paid back in monthly instalments together with interest  

o payments over an agreed period, upon disposal of the property or 

breach of any applicable loan conditions, whichever is the sooner. 

• A discounted interest repayment only loan, up to £30,000 

o secured against the applicant’s dwelling 

o interest only is paid back in monthly instalments 

o repayment of the capital sum shall be for an agreed term and no later 

than upon disposal of the dwelling or breach of any applicable loan 

conditions whichever is the sooner. 

• A discounted rolled up interest loan up to £30,000 

o secured against the applicant’s dwelling 

o no monthly repayment but will accrue compound interest until it is 

repaid. 

27



 

12 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

o repayment shall be no later than upon disposal of the dwelling or 

breach of any applicable loan condition, whichever is the sooner.  

• An unsecured capital and interest repayment loan for sums less than, 

typically, £1000. 

1.5 General terms 

The interest rate to be charged on loans may be subject to change from time to time 

to ensure the subsidy payments are affordable to the Council.  

A non-subsidised loan product will typically be offered for use by landlords and 

owners of empty properties in certain areas.  

  

28



 

13 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 2.0 DFG Procedures 

2.1 Applications 

A list of contractors who have previously completed work to a satisfactory standard 

and who wish to be on the list shall be made available to all applicants upon request.  

Applicants who wish to arrange / manage works themselves for which mandatory 

DFG funding is sought, rather than use Council services, must submit with their 

application 3 contractors quotes for works or, where less than £5,000, only two 

quotes shall be required.  

Where the Council is obtaining quotes as part of the service for applicants in 

arranging / managing works on their behalf this will be in accordance with the agreed 

arrangements and standing order exemption agreed by Head of Audit which is 

detailed later.  

Applicants who wish to carry out the work themselves cannot include charge for their 

own labour and must include a detailed estimate of materials with their application.  

Applications shall include relevant signed certificates concerning ownership and 

occupation conditions. 

Applications will only be considered where they include confirmation of all planning, 

building regulation, party wall act and such other applicable statutory requirements 

have been satisfied. 

An application shall be refused in respect of any work that has already been carried 

out. No work for which grant funding is sought shall be commenced prior to approval 

except where there is an overwhelming health or safety reason. In such instances 

work must not commence without the written permission of the Executive Head of 

Health & Wellbeing. Such permission shall not be taken as a guarantee that a loan 

or grant will be subsequently awarded. 

2.2 Approvals 

Mandatory DFG funding shall only be awarded to qualifying applicants undertaking 

eligible works and shall in all cases be subject to the availability of funds. 

Provision shall be made for adjusting the granted amount when unforeseen 

variations in costs occur whilst work is in progress.  

Grant approvals may be authorised by the Lead officer for Private Sector Housing, 

Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing or Corporate Director for Service Delivery.  

• £0 - £30,000 – check & approval by grants officer, second check and final 

authorisation by one of those listed above. 

29



 

14 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• Over £30,00013 check & approval by grants officer and then authorisation 

from two of those listed above. 

2.3 Completions 

Where a contractor is instructed, grants funding shall be paid directly to the 

contractor on behalf of the applicant upon satisfactory completion of the work and 

only when supported by a satisfactory invoice together with any relevant certificates 

and guarantees and building control notice completion. 

2.4 Procurement arrangements & exemptions 

It has been agreed by the Head of Audit since 2015 that for the purposes of 

mandatory DFG works that there can be an exemption to standing orders for works 

up to £10,000 which allow for only a single quote being obtained. This agreement 

has been granted on the following basis: 

• That the works quoted for are from an itemised schedule of rates, to which the 

contractors on the list held by the Private Sector Housing team have agreed.  

• The schedule of rates is maintained by the Private sector housing team and 

periodically reviewed to ensure accurate market prices.  

• That the contractors on the list are each selected in turn on a rotational basis 

to ensure fair opportunity.  

• A record of the rotation will be maintained to ensure transparency and 

accountability.   

Any works that are over £10,000.00 and/or where the works quoted are either wholly 

or partly contains elements which are not from the schedule of rates then standard 

procurement requirements will apply14. In exceptional cases, e.g. specialised works 

to which no comparative quotes could reasonably be obtained or where the DFG is 

classified as urgent, single quotes may be accepted but only at the discretion of the 

Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing. 

2.5 Priority levels 

Mandatory DFGs may be classified as one of two priority levels; Standard or Urgent.  

Urgent classification will only be given where identified by a referring Occupational 

Therapist and agreed by the Lead officer for Private Sector Housing or Executive 

Head of Health & Wellbeing. Urgent classification will only be awarded in the 

following circumstances: 

• The client cannot be discharged from hospital or reablement facility without 

adaptions being done (i.e. is bed-blocking). 

 
13 Which would only occur in circumstances where a mandatory DFG of maximum amount is 
combined with discretionary DFG payment or other type of financial assistance (excluding low-cost 
loans). 
14 1 quote for works costing under £1000, 2 quotes for works costing between £1000 - £5000, 3 quotes for works 

costing over £5000.  

30



 

15 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• The client is identified by the Occupation Therapist as a palliative need. 

• The client would be at risk of death or of extreme physical harm from current 

conditions/arrangements in dwelling if left without adaptations for the usual 

period of time taken to provide and complete a DFG. 

2.6 Asbestos 

All DFGs will have due regard to all relevant legislation, regulations and good 

practice in relation to the identification, management & control of asbestos. 

2.6.1 When a report is needed. 

• Where the property to be adapted was built either in 2000 or later, no 

asbestos reports will be required to be provided. 

• Where the property to be adapted was built prior to 2000 the following will 

apply: 

o If it is an RSL(housing association) property or private rented property, 

an asbestos report MUST be provided to the Council for consideration 

prior to approval. It will be the responsibility of the RSL / Private 

Landlord to obtain the asbestos report and to cover any costs incurred 

in doing so. 

o If it is an Owner-Occupied property, there is no obligation to provide an 

asbestos report. However, if a contractor or grants surveyor have 

significant concerns there may be asbestos containing material (ACM) 

in the area where the adaption is to be done, it is good practice for a 

report to be produced. In such a circumstance, the Council may instruct 

directly an appropriate company on the client’s behalf, and the costs 

incurred included in the DFG as an ancillary cost. The report will be 

obtained prior to approval. 

2.6.2 Other matters 

• The Council will ensure for any DFG where an asbestos report is 

provided/obtained that it is shared with all relevant parties (i.e. contractors) 

prior to the commencement of works. 

• The Council will hold no responsibility as to the accuracy of the report, nor for 

any requirement for recording, reviewing or further management actions that 

may apply. 

• It will be the contractor(s) responsibility to ensure they follow the appropriate 

measures & use of PPE in accordance with all relevant guidance & good 

practice as issued by HSE both when working around known ACM or if finding 

previously unidentified ACM and/or on accidental disturbance. 

• The Council will, if notified of finding previously unidentified ACM and/or of an 

accidental disturbance by a contractor during works, ensure this information is 

shared with the relevant parties responsible for the property immediately. 

31



 

16 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• The Council may periodically check what training any contractors used for 

DFGs have regarding asbestos, to ensure they are aware of the relevant 

requirements and practices. 

  

32



 

17 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 3.0 DFG Eligible Works 

3.1 Mandatory items 

In line with the Act15 items that meet one of the below criteria may be considered 

eligible for mandatory DFG funding but only where the Council consider them to be 

necessary and appropriate for meeting the needs of the disabled person and it is 

reasonable and practicable to carry out the work in the disabled person’s home. 

Hampshire County Council (HCC) Adult & Children Services may be consulted on 

medical need in relation to a client’s disability.  

3.1.1 Criteria 

• Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to / from the dwelling.  

• Facilitating access for the disabled occupant to a principal family room. 

• Facilitating access for the disabled occupant to a room for sleeping. 

• Facilitating access for the disabled occupant to a WC 

• Facilitating access for the disabled occupant to washing/bathing facilities. 

• Facilitating access the preparation/cooking of food by the disabled occupant. 

• Making the dwelling safe for the disabled occupant and other people living 

there 

• Facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of a source of power/light/heat 

by altering position or access to means of control 

• Ensuring heating to the dwelling meets needs of disabled occupant 

• Facilitating access around dwelling to enable a disabled occupant to care for 

others. 

• Facilitating access by the disabled occupant to / from a garden 

3.1.2 Limitations of items provided 

While it would be nice to fully adapt all parts of a disabled person’s home regardless 

of cost, the reality is that the Council like all Local Authorities has a finite budget and 

so in assessing the reasonableness of proposed works consideration must be made 

to costs. The Council is charged with the responsibility of differentiating between 

what is desirable and what is essential for which the public purse can be justified. 

For purposes of clarity, therefore, below are listed the limitations, the extent to which 

the Council consider these items can be deemed necessary and appropriate, to 

which Mandatory DFG funding may be given. 

Bathrooms 

• The adaptation or provision of more than one bathroom to a house e.g. 

additional ground floor WC, will only be considered if the disabled person is 

unable to access the first floor and installation of a stair lift / through floor lift 

will not meet their needs or is impractical given the structure of the property. 

 
15 Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, Section 23(1) 

33



 

18 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• Baths typically are not provided and will only be considered for a walk-in bath 

or rise & fall bath if there is a critical/essential medical need, evidenced by a 

GP letter specifically detailing this, that means client needs to soak in a bath 

for medical reasons. 

Property repairs 

• Changes to the type of heating system within a property will only be 

considered if evidenced by medical need. 

• Replacement of defective drainage pipes will not be eligible 

Hard standings 

• Hard standings are only considered necessary and appropriate where the 

disabled person is the driver or where, if a child, there are significant 

behavioural problems which necessitate the need for a safe area in which to 

enter/alight from a vehicle. 

• It will not be provided where it is considered a marked disabled parking bay 

would be viable and an effective alternative. 

• It will not be provided as means to address on street parking in the client’s 

road being busy. 

• Hard standings will only be provided to accommodate 1 vehicle and up to the 

dimensions of  

o the length of the client’s vehicle plus 1m. 

o the width of the client’s vehicle plus 1.5m. 

 

the “client’s vehicle” is the one at the point of application and no 

amendments to the dimensions of the hardstanding will be accommodated 

should the client choose to change vehicles once the DFG has been 

approved or any point thereafter. 

 

Variation to the above dimensions may be considered only in exceptional 

circumstances.  

Kitchens 

• Where someone other than the disabled person does and will continue to do 

the cooking and preparation of meals, it will only be considered appropriate 

and necessary adaption to provide a low-level worktop with power points for 

kettle or microwave to allow them to make light meals or hot drinks 

• Powered adjustable height sinks will generally not be considered if a 

secondary sink is a more cost-effective solution.  

• Extensions or enlargement of kitchens will only be considered where 

absolutely necessary to accommodate a turning circle of a wheelchair if this 

cannot be achieved in the existing space. 

Garden Access 

• Grant funding will not be provided to extending any existing access 

34



 

19 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• Grant funding will not be given where there is already suitable access 

• Only the most modest solution for providing access will be considered 

• Access means simply providing immediate access to the garden and does not 

include landscaping garden to make access around the entire garden for an 

individual. 

Additional rooms & extensions 

• It will be expected all alternative options, such as re-housing, have been fully 

explored, considered and proven to be unviable before consideration will be 

given to an extension. 

• An extension should be the last resort and will only be agreed when it is not 

possible to provide the required facilities within the footprint of the dwelling.  

• Where an overcrowding issue overlaps with a disability issue, the 

overcrowding should be resolved first by the family. Issues of overcrowding 

will not be considered under mandatory DFG.  

• Where the Council determine the facilities can be provided within the existing 

footprint of the dwelling, but the applicants request an extension, then the 

Council may consider an “applicant’s alternative scheme”. In doing so, the 

notional cost of the works identified by the Council may be granted but which 

the clients can then put towards the cost of their preferred scheme. This will 

only be considered where the Occupational Therapist agrees the alternative 

scheme will still meet the disabled person’s needs.  

• Utilisation of all appropriate internal areas/rooms will be expected so as to 

reduce the size of any extension. This would include, but not limited to, 

integral garages, second reception room & unused bedrooms.  

• Requests for provision of separate bedroom where a disabled child with 

behavioural difficulties shares a room with other siblings will only be 

considered under mandatory DFG where it can be demonstrated the child is 

prone to violent outbursts and there is risk of physical violence or safety to the 

other siblings. 

• Single-storey extensions only will eligible under mandatory DFG.  

• The following table is for guidance as to the size of bedroom that would be 

accommodated in the design where it is required as part of an extension.  

Bedroom 
type 

Client requirement Size of room 
(m2) 

Single Ambulant 6.51 – 7.5 

With specialist bed 12.5 

Wheelchair user 7.28 – 12.0 

Wheelchair user with carers bed 14.7 

Bed/bathroom with H frame tracking 20.0 

Bed/bathroom with H frame tracking plus carers bed 22.0 

35



 

20 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Double Both ambulant 10.2 

One ambulant and one wheelchair user 10.2 – 14.7 

Both wheelchair user 14.5 – 15.5 

 

3.2 Non-Mandatory items 

The Council can help facilitate the below items through low-cost loans where the 

clients are eligible, sign-posting clients to suitable charitable funding to apply for; 

however, no DFG funding will be available for these works. 

Kitchens 

• Generally, extensive adaptations to the kitchen over and above those 

considered necessary and appropriate or more than the limitations described 

above. 

• The provision of cupboards, storage units, breakfast bars that are considered 

above and beyond the minimum necessary in order to meet the clients need 

for mandatory DFGs. 

• Free Standing cookers and hobs, refrigerators, dishwashers, washing 

machines and waste disposal units. 

Other Rooms 

• Provision of replacement rooms or parts of rooms which have been "lost" by 

carrying out adaptations. 

• Fitments in rooms, for example built-in cupboards, wardrobes, storage units 

etc. 

• Extensions to living rooms. 

• Provision of treatment rooms. 

Scooter / Powered Wheelchair provisions 

• Formation of patios, walkways to and from garages or scooter areas. 

• Storage areas and charging points for powered wheelchairs/scooters. 

Technology & Aids 

• Provision of pager systems linked to doorbells or telephones for the 

profoundly deaf. 

• Provision of disabled aids and equipment that can be fitted with no or little 

structural alterations. 

• Non-fixed (mobile) aids, e.g. bath hoists may be funded by HCC  

• Air conditioning. 

• CCTV. 

• Portable/non-fixed items. 

Exterior 

• General provision of external lighting. 

36



 

21 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

• Drop kerbs and/or vehicle hard standings for non-wheelchair users or where 

wheelchair user is non-driver. 

• Formation of bin store areas. 

• Creating a safe play area and/or fences. 

Other 

• Service contracts for equipment, beyond that originally provided. 

• Floor coverings (except slip-resistant floor finish to bathroom area). 

• Wall tiling (except splash backs and immediate shower areas). 

• Storage areas for example scooters, wheelchairs, children’s equipment. 

• Provision of clothes drying facilities. 

• Minor adaptations up to the value of £1,000 which may be provided by Adult 

Services. Funding may also be available from Children’s services or Housing 

Association (where applicable)  

37



 

22 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 4.0 Discretionary DFG Procedure 

4.1 Principles 

Discretionary DFG payments may be given to either: 

• help top-up a mandatory DFG where works cost more than the maximum that 

can be provided. 

• cover the cost of a client’s assessed contribution to enable works to proceed 

• cover the cost of small works needed to alleviate mental health crisis that 

would otherwise fall outside the remit of a mandatory DFG. 

Discretionary DFG payments will only be awarded in extenuating circumstances and 

as the last resort to enable adaptions to proceed for a client. Being in any of the 

above scenarios should not be considered a guarantee that a Discretionary DFG will 

be awarded. To ensure the limited funding available is used for those most in need, 

they will only be awarded where it can be shown the clients have met all necessary 

criteria to justify the payment.  

4.2 Criteria  

Clients requesting discretionary DFG payment will need to be able to demonstrate, 

and evidence where required, the following: 

• That all other sources of additional funding have been explored to no avail, 

including family members, charitable organisations etc.   

• Owner-occupiers have explored potential of low-cost loan through Parity Trust 

and it be confirmed by Parity Trust that it is not financially viable. 

• That they do not have any savings to be able to contribute themselves, or if 

they have some savings that it would put them in unreasonable financial 

hardship if required to contribute the necessary amount.  

• Where the disabled person is a child (therefore the mandatory DFG would 

have been passported) the applicant(s) i.e. parent(s) or guardian(s) must 

either: 

o Demonstrate they are in receipt of a passported benefit; or  

o Have completed a test of resources form and been assessed to have 

either no contribution, or their assessed contribution is less than 

£5,000. 

If the above criteria cannot be demonstrated to have been met, a Discretionary DFG 

will not be provided. 

4.3 Limitations  

The following limitations apply to discretionary DFG payments: 

• Can only be provided up to a maximum £5,000.  

• Will not be provided to cover the cost of a clients assessed contribution where 

the assessed amount is above £5,000.  

38



 

23 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 5.0 DFG Palliative Cases 
A Discretionary Palliative DFG can be considered in cases where the referring 

Occupational Therapist has identified the client as needing palliative short-term 

adaptions (typically they will have received a prognosis of 12 months or less). 

5.1 Eligible works 

The following adaptions can be considered under a discretionary palliative DFG. 

• Straight stairlifts 

• Curved stairlifts (these may take up to 8 weeks to manufacture) 

• Modular ramping 

• Wash-dry toilet (e.g. Clos-o-mat WC) 

• Shower cubicles 

5.2 Palliative DFG Conditions 

It shall be a condition of the award of any Palliative DFG that any specialist 

equipment provided, including all of the items listed above, will remain the property 

of Eastleigh Borough Council and can be recovered and recycled by the Council for 

re-use on the removal of the original need or the disposal or change of use of the 

property. 

This grant will not be repayable as all equipment will be recovered. 

5.3 Financial assessment requirement 

All cases where an Occupational Therapist has identified on their referral that it is in 

connection to a palliative short-term adaption need it will be considered as 

passporting and no financial assessment will be required.  

5.4 Priority 

All cases under Discretionary Palliative DFG will be considered as Urgent and will 

get the increased priority within officer workloads that this accords.  

 

 

  

39



 

24 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 6.0 Project assistance fee structure & service 

6.1 Scope of service 

The Private Sector Housing team may be requested to give assistance in 

arrangement and/or management of works where: 

• It is in relation to disabled adaption works at a property but where the test of 

resources has determined the client has sufficient income/equity to cover the 

cost of works, or   

• It is in relation to works to bring an empty property back into use.  

Where staff resources permit, the Council may agree to provide such assistance. In 

such cases an administration fee will be charged to cover the time & resources 

entailed in providing this service.  

6.2 Fee Structure 

Where fees are charged, they will be in line with the below fee structure.  

Total cost of works Fee rate 

up to £5,000 £250.00 

£5,000 - £10,000 £500.00 

over £10,000 10% of total cost of works.  

 

6.3 Explanation of fee structure 

Simple projects, which might be characterised by provision of a single specialist 

equipment item, without the need for other structural works, on average cost less 

than £5,00016. These simpler projects have less components to arrange and oversee 

and equally there will be little variation in the officer time involved between individual 

cases of this smaller size. Therefore, a single rate17 for these simpler projects in the 

charging structure is considered most appropriate.  

Medium scale projects as might be characterised by altering an existing bathroom to 

a level access shower room, on average cost less than £10,000 but do generally 

entail a greater amount of work. While there will be some variation between cases 

they will still all contain the same core areas of work. Therefore, the Council has set 

a slightly higher but still single rate18 for these medium scale projects.  

Large scale projects, as might be characterised by multiple adaptions within the 

same property, kitchen adaptions and extensions are generally the costlier projects 

and can vary greatly in their complexities and therefore time and work required to be 

provided. As such, it was considered most appropriate to charge a % rate for these 

 
16 All average costs are based on work cost data from DFG records for 2015 - 2019 
17 Rate set is equivalent to 6.6% of the middle cost in the price band. 
18 Rate set is equivalent to 6.6% of the middle cost in the price band. 

40



 

25 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

highly variable cases so that the fee scales proportionately to the extent works 

required to be project managed. 

6.4 Payment 

The fee levied for this service will be charged by means of an invoice sent to the 

client upon completion of works. 

Should the client fail to pay the invoice then it will be considered as a debt to the 

Council and it will be sought to be recovered in line with the Council’s debt recovery 

policy & procedures.  

6.5 Cancellations 

A client will have the benefit of a 14-day cooling off period, from the date the Council 

have agreed to provide assistance, in which they can cancel without any 

repercussion or costs. 

Should a client decide, after the first 14 days, to cancel their request for assistance 

they will still be liable to pay a fee to cover the time & resources expended by the 

Council up to that point.  

If, at the point of cancellation, works have not started at the property and no 

contractor has been instructed to start: 

• For small or medium scale projects, where a single rate would have applied, 

50% of the single rate fee will still be liable to be paid. 

• For large scale projects, where % rate would have applied, a charge of £500 

will still be liable to be paid. 

If, at the point of cancellation, works have commenced at the property or a contractor 

has been instructed to start the full fee will still apply.  

Any cancellation fee may only be waived at the discretion of the Executive Head of 

Health & Wellbeing. 

  

41



 

26 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

Appendix 7.0 DFG & Loan Conditions 
 

General conditions 

7.1 The award of any grant or loan is subject to the availability of funding 

having regard to the capacity of the approved budget.  

 

7.2 Financial assistance provided by third parties through the Council shall 

be subject to such conditions and requirements as they may determine. 

 

7.3 Owners must hold Title to the property for which assistance is requested 

or a Lease with an unexpired term of 5 years. Owners of Mobile Homes 

must have an unexpired right of occupation of their site plot for at least 5 

years. Owners of houseboats must have an unexpired permanent 

mooring agreement of at least 5 years.  

 

7.4 It shall be a condition of the award of any grant that any specialist 

equipment, including but not limited to; stairlifts, through floor lifts, 

modular ramping and automatic wash-dry toilets, can be recovered and 

recycled at the discretion of the Council for re-use on the removal of the 

original need or the disposal and/or change of use of the property. 

 

7.5 All applicants shall be expected to maintain adequate buildings 

insurance. 

Repayment conditions 

7.6 Section 52 of the Act19 allows local housing authorities to impose 

repayment conditions on DFGs but only with the consent of the 

Secretary of State. In 2008 the Secretary of State gave all local housing 

authorities a general consent20 to impose such repayment conditions 

subject to the following prescribed criteria: 

 

7.6.1 The Council may demand repayment of any amount of a DFG 

which exceeds £5,000 up to a maximum repayment of £10,000. 

7.6.2 The applicant (“the recipient”) must have a qualifying owner’s 

interest in the premises on which the relevant works are to be 

carried out 

 
19 Housing Grants, Construction & Regeneration Act 1996, Section 52 : 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/section/52 
20 Housing Grants, Construction & Regeneration Act: Disabled Facilities Grant (Conditions relating to approval or 
payment of Grant) General Consent 2008 - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7811/generalc
onsent2008.pdf 

42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/section/52
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7811/generalconsent2008.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7811/generalconsent2008.pdf


 

27 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

7.6.3 The recipient disposes (whether by sale, assignment, transfer or 

otherwise) of the premises within 10 years of the certified date of 

completion of the works.  

7.6.4 The Council is satisfied that it is reasonable in all circumstances 

to require the repayment having given due consideration to the 

following: 

o The extent to which the recipient would suffer financial 

hardship from having to repay all or any of the grant; 

o Whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the 

recipient to take up employment, or to change the 

location of his/her employment; 

o Whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with 

the physical or mental health of the recipient or of a 

disabled occupant of the premises; and 

o Whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient to 

provide or receive care. 

7.6.5 Any DFG subject to a repayment condition is placed as a local 

land charge and must be registered accordingly. 

7.6.6 The use of repayment conditions on DFGs will not disadvantage 

recipients as the adaption remains free at the point of delivery. 

7.6.7 In any case where the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Lead Councillor and Chief Finance 

Officer, consider it to be reasonable based upon the individual 

circumstances of the case. 

 

7.7 Where a loan or grant has been awarded the recipient MUST 

immediately notify the Council when they decide to dispose of or 

permanently vacate the property or in the case of a landlord, they cease 

to make the property available for letting. 

 

7.8 The Council shall impose a condition requiring repayment of a loan or 

grant awarded for works that are subsequently the subject of a 

successful insurance or other legal claim for damages. A demand for 

repayment shall be made at the discretion of the Cabinet Lead Councillor 

in consultation with the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing and Chief 

Finance Officer.  

 

7.9 The Council shall demand repayment of a (loan or) grant in full upon 

breach of one or more of the conditions. A demand for a lesser amount 

shall be considered at the discretion of the Cabinet Lead Councillor in 

consultation with the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing and Chief 

Finance Officer. 

 

43



 

28 
Private Sector Housing – Health & Wellbeing 

7.10 In all other circumstances there shall be no discretion to waive 

repayment of a loan except where the loan provider advises that legal 

action to recover the loan would, on the balance of probabilities, be 

unsuccessful.  

 

Actions which may prejudice future applications 

7.11 The applicant shall endeavour to maintain the property in good repair 

following completion of the works. Failure to do so may prejudice future 

applications for financial assistance.  

 

Properties available for letting: 

7.12 It shall be a condition of the award of a loan in respect of an empty 

property that is or will be available for letting once brought back into use 

that: 

7.12.1 The Council shall be entitled to nominate tenants to the property 

for a period of 5 years commencing from completion of the work. 

The landlord must notify the Council should a vacancy arise 

during the 5 years period.  

7.12.2 The loan shall be repaid upon demand should the property 

cease to be available for letting within 5 years from the 

completion of the works.  

Case Specific Conditions: 

7.13 The Council may attach any other conditions on the award of any grant 

or loan on individual cases as may be considered necessary and 

reasonable for the particular circumstances of that case.  

7.13.1 Where a case specific condition is to be attached it must be 

agreed by Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing & Cabinet 

Portfolio Holder for Social Policy. 

7.13.2 Must be put in writing to the applicant at earliest point possible 

to notify them of the terms of the condition so they are fully 

informed of the requirements and determine if they wish to 

continue with their application 

 

 

 

 

44



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  

 

Title of EqIA: Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy. 

Brief description of  
the Proposal: 

The Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy sets out 

Eastleigh Borough Council's approach on providing financial 

assistance. It aims at improving and maintaining community 

cohesion and specifically addressing social exclusion issues that 

can arise from the occupation of poor or inappropriate housing. It 

particularly sets out the Council’s approach to the financial 

aspects of Disabled Facility Grants (DFG). 

This update to the policy brings in the additions of: 

 extending the criteria for which discretionary grants can 
be used to now include for small works, that fall outside 
of DFG, that are necessary to alleviate an immediate 
mental health crisis,  

 charging for the Council’s project assistance on self-
funded adaptations, and 

 a new condition to those that are attached to any DFGs. 

Assessment: 

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
with protected characteristics.  

Age: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

While the greater majority of customers of the DFG service are 
elderly (48.3% aged 65+) the service is available to all ages 
provided they meet the other necessary eligibility requirements 
as set out in the legislation. 

The project assistance available on adaptations that are self-

45



funded by the client is offered so as to help customers who 
might otherwise be unable to organise and arrange the works 
themselves and, if it wasn’t offered, would likely not be done. 
However, it is clear in policy it will only be provided where 
capacity allows, which is necessary to protect and ensure that 
providing this assistance is not to the detriment of the provision 
of the mandatory DFG service.  

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between different age groups. However, by providing 
adaptations that will allow customers (predominantly elderly) 
retain independent and access to the broader community this 
could help allow for greater opportunities for socialisation 
between age groups within the community. 

Disability: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

The provision of the disabled facility grants ensures necessary 
adaptations to the homes of disabled residents can be done. 
This will help advance equality of opportunity by helping them 
to retain independence, dignity and ability access to the 
broader community and services. It is a legal requirement that 
all children’s DFGs are fully funded, where as adult DFGs are 
means tested. 

The inclusion of the extended criteria for discretionary DFGs 
reflects the greater acknowledgement & conversation of society 
around matters of mental health and helps to advance equality 
of opportunity by.  

The project assistance available on adaptations that are self-
funded by the client is offered so as to help customers who 
might otherwise be unable to organise and arrange the works 
themselves and, if it wasn’t offered, would likely not be done. 
However, it is clear in policy it will only be provided where 
capacity allows, which is necessary to protect and ensure that 
providing this assistance is not to the detriment of the provision 
of the mandatory DFG service. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between disabled & able-bodied people. However, by providing 
adaptations that will allow customers to have increased 
independence and so by access to the broader community this 
could help allow for greater opportunities for socialisation within 
the community. 

Gender: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between different gender groups other than by improving 
access to the broader community & services by customers. 

Gender reassignment: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between different gender groups other than by improving 

46



access to the broader community & services by customers. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy.  

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

Race: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services.  

It is acknowledged that some ethnicities require larger 
properties due to intergenerational living or co-living. This will 
be taken into consideration during the design process where 
possible. However, there may be disputes as to level of work 
that will be grant funded but we will always try to fund what is 
required by the Occupational Therapist in the most cost-
effective way. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

Religion or belief: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services.  

Specific needs due to religion will be considered during the 
design process where possible, provided we are made aware 
of the requirements. However, there may be disputes as to 
level of work that will be grant funded but we will always try to 
fund what is required by the Occupational Therapist in the most 
cost-effective way. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

Sexual Orientation: No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

No existing discrimination or identified limitation on accessing 
services covered by policy. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 
people experiencing social deprivation. 

Social deprivation: 

No existing discrimination or identified limitation on access 
services covered by policy. DFG remains free at the point of 
delivery. 

The policy will advance equal opportunities by ensuring those 

47



of greatest need have access to financial assistance to ensure 
they can adapt their home or do essential repairs so that is 
safe & suitable and allow them to retain independence, dignity 
and access to the broader community. Loans are given based 
on financial circumstances and are targeted towards people 
who would otherwise be unable to afford to improve their 
property, it is a legal requirement that children’s DFGs are 
always full funded, and adult DFGs are means tested and so 
provided to those that cannot afford to adapt their properties 
independently. 

The proposed administrative charge for project assistance is 
only to be levied where the client has been financially assessed 
to be able to cover the cost of works so the adaptations are 
fully self-funded. This will not disadvantage those clients more 
socially deprived as they will still be able to access the 
mandatory DFGs. 

It is not within the scope of this policy to improve relations 
between these groups other than by improving access to the 
broader community & services by customers. 

 

What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out? 

External consultation on the proposed updated policy was 
undertaken between 7th December 2020 and 15th January 2021. 
The consultation was targeted to key stakeholder organisations.  

Draft copies of the updated policy were sent to those below for 
any comments. No comments were received from this external 
consultation. 

 Eastleigh & District Disability Forum  

 Age UK (Eastleigh Branch) 

 Abri Housing Association 

 VIVID Housing Association 

 Hampshire County Council (Child Services – OT Team) 

 Hampshire County Council (Adults Health & Care – OT 
Team) 

What could reduce any 
adverse impact on 
these groups? 

While there is a push for customers to self-serve online through 
website, given a considerable proportion of customers of the 
DFG service are elderly or may have accessibility issues, we 
need to ensure continued provision of paper applications forms 
that can be posted out or collected from the offices and also 
timely provision of forms in other accessible formats. We will 
continue to provide phone support by the CMOs for customers to 
help answer questions on completion of the application forms. 

Action Plan  

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

48



N/a    

N/a    

N/a    

 

Service Manager: Elizabeth Hawkins 

Executive Head: Janine Pickering 

Corporate Director: Andrew Trayer 

Date completed: 31/08/2021 

 

 

49



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Monday, 13 September 2021  

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Report of the of the Executive Head of Health and Wellbeing  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
(1) adopt the Energy Act 2011 and so by doing, also the Energy Efficiency 

(Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 (as amended) 
made under it. 

(2) adopt the Energy Act 2013 and so by doing, also the Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 made under it. 

(3) adopt the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 and so by doing, also 
the Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work and Property Management 
Work (requirement to belong to a scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014 made 
under it. 

(4) delegate to the Executive Head of Health and Wellbeing all powers under the 
Energy Act 2011, Energy Act 2013 and the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform 
Act 2013 and subsequent regulations and authorise the Executive Head of 
Health and Wellbeing to delegate the discharge of those powers to Specialists 
of suitable experience, competency, and seniority. 

(5) approve the penalty charging structures in appendix 1 (appendix 5 of the 
policy) which is proposed to be used for any charges issued under the above 
pieces of legislation; and 

(6) authorise that the annual review and any minor amendments to be made to 
the matrix be delegated to the relevant Portfolio Lead and the Executive Head 
of Health and Wellbeing. 

 

Summary 
 
The proposed penalty charging structures and statement of principles contained within the 
Private Sector Housing (PSH) Enforcement Policy at appendix 1 outlines when and how 
penalty charges will be utilised in the execution of the Council’s statutory duty.  

It is intended to bring in the provisions made available to the Council that have previously 
been overlooked. It ensures the ability of the Council to meet its statutory obligations and 

51

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

transparency around the use of these powers and penalty charges that may be issued.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Primary:  

 Energy Act 2011 

 Energy Act 2013,  

 Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 

Secondary: 

 Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 

 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarms (England) Regulations 2015 

The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work 
(Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc) (England) Order 2014 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This proposal outlines how the Council will meet its statutory duty. The quality 
and security of housing is a significant determinant of a person’s physical and 
mental health and wellbeing and those in socio-economic deprivation often 
have limited access to accommodation of an appropriate standard. The health 
and wellbeing of all residents in the borough is a strategic priority, and this 
policy will contribute towards the following objectives: 

 To enable health and wellbeing 

 To tackle health inequality and deprivation 

Introduction 

2. There is a statutory duty placed on the Council under the Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarms (England) Regulations 2015 to issue a remedial notice 
where it is satisfied a landlord is failing, or has failed, to comply with one or 
more of the regulations, and to undertake remedial action themselves if the 
landlord does not comply with any notice served.  

There is also a statutory duty placed on the Council to enforce the 
requirements in their area of  

 the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) 
Regulations 2015 (as amended); and  

 The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property 
Management Work (Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc) 
(England) Order 2014. 

This proposal brings in the enforcement options and the discretion to issue 
penalty charges in respect of non-compliance under these pieces of 

52



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

legislation. By doing so the Council is availing itself of all possible powers to 
ensure the most appropriate and effective means of action can be used. 

The matrices proposed for the levels of fine under each piece of legislation 
are based on the formats of other matrices already implemented by many 
local authorities across the country and reflect the maximum penalty values as 
outlined in their respective legislations. It also takes on board the guidance 
issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) which outlines the requirement for a Council to have a clear 
statement of principles as to how the levels of fine are calculated. 

Proposed Policy 

3. The main purpose is: 

 To officially bring in the enforcement powers of the Energy Efficiency 
(Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 (as 
amended, the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarms (England) 
Regulations 2015 and The Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work 
and Property Management Work (requirement to belong to a scheme 
etc.) (England) Order 2014 and thereby ensure that the Council is able 
to meet its statutory obligations under them. 

 To ensure transparency and clarity around the charging structure for 
determining a fine amount under these pieces of legislation.  

Consultation 

4. The proposed monetary charges were considered a relatively small addition to 
the existing PSH Enforcement Policy and the maximum amount under the 
new potential charges is significantly less than those already approved by 
Cabinet of being levied under other powers already in the PSH Enforcement 
Policy. It was therefore considered that an external consultation was not 
necessary in this instance. 

Internal consultation was made with the Legal Services team. 

Financial Implications 

5. There is no immediate financial implication from the approval of this policy.  

There may be some additional income generated through the issue of 
monetary penalties. It should be noted however, that it is expressly stated by 
government that any money received by this means are to be ringfenced for 
use back in relation to housing enforcement work.  

Any monetary penalty charges will only be issued where there is sufficient 
evidence and legal justification to do so. For this reason, it should not be 
viewed as a means of income generation.  

53



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

6. Failure to adopt this proposal will mean the Council is failing to meet its 
statutory duties under the legislation. Additionally, it will not be utilising all of 
the legislative provisions available to improve housing conditions for the 
benefit of Eastleigh residents.   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

7. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to advancing equality of opportunity. 

The Council is committed to ensuring good housing conditions for its 
residents. Approval of the policy will result in anticipated improvement for 
people in social deprivation and/or those with protected characteristics, 
particularly for age and race. Residents in private rented accommodation are 
more likely to be younger, with an increasing number over the last 10 years of 
households with children in this tenure type. There is also a larger proportion 
of EU citizens resident in the UK using private rented accommodation in 
comparison to other tenures. 
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out because it is 
not considered proportionate given that the policy mostly covers statutory 
duties which the Council is required to carry out.  
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

8. This policy does not have any direct impact on climate change or 
environmental implications.   

Conclusion 

9. The Council has a statutory duty to keep housing conditions under review 
within the Borough and take appropriate action as needed. By adopting this 
policy, it ensures clarity for the public and Councillors on what they can 
expect, as well as ensuring staff have the full complement of provisions within 
the legislation available to them when undertaking their work. 

 
SENIOR DFG AND HOUSING ENFORCEMENT OFFICER 

 
Date: 13 September 2021  
Contact Officer: Elizabeth Hawkins, Andrew Saunders   
Tel No: 07920 710 677 
e-mail: elizabeth.hawkins@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: 

 Appendix 1 - Updated Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
  
 

 

54



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

List Background Papers: None. 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 
 

ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 

  

57



 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

Contents 
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. Key Principle of PSH Enforcement ............................................................................................ 5 

3. Enforcement Principles .............................................................................................................. 5 

4. How do I report poor housing conditions? ................................................................................. 6 

5. Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................ 7 

6. How long will an investigation take? .......................................................................................... 7 

7. What if someone makes a report about a property I’m responsible for? .................................... 7 

8. Investigating PSH enforcement cases ....................................................................................... 8 

8.1. Property inspection .............................................................................................................. 8 

8.2. Powers of Entry ................................................................................................................... 8 

8.3. Information Gathering .......................................................................................................... 9 

9. Possible Outcomes .................................................................................................................. 10 

10. Formal Enforcement Action ..................................................................................................... 10 

10.1. Enforcement Notices & Orders .......................................................................................... 10 

10.2. Works in default................................................................................................................. 15 

10.3. Breaches of Regulations ................................................................................................... 15 

10.4. Civil Penalty ...................................................................................................................... 16 

10.5. Prosecution ....................................................................................................................... 16 

10.6. Enforced Sale .................................................................................................................... 16 

10.7. Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) .................................................................................. 17 

10.8. Banning Order ................................................................................................................... 17 

10.9. Rent Repayment Orders ................................................................................................... 18 

11. Investigation Standards ........................................................................................................... 18 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 Housing Civil Penalties Policy ................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Scope .................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2 Legislation ........................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Considerable Offences ........................................................................................................ 1 

1.4 Principles of Civil Penalties ................................................................................................. 1 

1.5 Determining when to issue civil penalty ............................................................................... 2 

1.6 Determining level of fine ...................................................................................................... 3 

1.6.1 Determining level of Harm ............................................................................................ 3 

1.6.2 Determining level of Culpability .................................................................................... 3 

1.7 Financial penalty level ......................................................................................................... 4 

58



 

3 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

1.8 Financial means to pay a civil penalty ................................................................................. 5 

1.9 Procedure for Issue of Civil Penalty .................................................................................... 5 

1.10 Entry on to Rogue Landlord’s Database .............................................................................. 5 

Appendix 2 Banning Orders Policy .............................................................................................. 1 

2.1 Scope .................................................................................................................................. 1 

2.2 Legislation ........................................................................................................................... 1 

2.3 Considerable offences ......................................................................................................... 1 

2.4 Principles of banning orders ................................................................................................ 1 

2.5 Length of banning order ...................................................................................................... 1 

2.6 Determining when to apply for a banning order ................................................................... 1 

2.7 Procedure for applying for a banning order ......................................................................... 2 

2.8 Requests for information ..................................................................................................... 2 

2.9 Consequences of a banning order ...................................................................................... 2 

2.10 Entry on to Rogue Landlord’s Database .............................................................................. 3 

2.11 Publicity following a banning order ...................................................................................... 3 

Appendix 3 Rent Repayment Orders (RRO) Policy ..................................................................... 1 

3.1 Scope .................................................................................................................................. 1 

3.2 Legislation ........................................................................................................................... 1 

3.3 Principles of rent repayment orders..................................................................................... 1 

3.4 Considerable Offences ........................................................................................................ 1 

3.5 Determining whether to apply for a rent repayment order ................................................... 1 

3.6 Procedure for applying for a rent repayment order .............................................................. 2 

3.7 Consequences of a rent repayment order ........................................................................... 2 

Appendix 4 Enforced Sale ........................................................................................................... 1 

4.1 Scope .................................................................................................................................. 1 

4.2 Legislation ........................................................................................................................... 1 

4.3 Key considerations .............................................................................................................. 2 

4.3.1 Human Rights Act 1998 ............................................................................................... 2 

4.3.2 Limitations .................................................................................................................... 2 

4.3.3 Equality Act 2010 ......................................................................................................... 2 

4.4 Criteria for Enforced Sale .................................................................................................... 2 

4.5 Determining whether to pursue an Enforced Sale ............................................................... 3 

4.6 Marketing Property .............................................................................................................. 3 

4.7 Procedure ............................................................................................................................ 3 

Appendix 5 Other monetary penalty charges ............................................................................... 1 

59



 

4 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

5.1 Smoke Alarm & Carbon Monoxide (England) Regulations 2015 ......................................... 1 

5.2 The Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work and Property Management Work 

(Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014 ............................................... 1 

5.3 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) .................................................................. 2 

Financial Penalty: ..................................................................................................................... 2 

Publication Penalty: .................................................................................................................. 3 

 

  

60



 

5 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

1. Introduction 
 

This policy sets out Eastleigh Borough Council’s approach to private sector housing enforcement. 

It sits under the Corporate Enforcement Strategy and covers part of the enforcement activity 

outlined in Appendix A for Health & Wellbeing. It upholds the principles and approaches of set out 

in the Corporate Enforcement Strategy of a proportionality, transparency and contributes to the 

aim to minimise harm, promote wellbeing & prosperity.  

The Council will always follow an enforcement option that is commensurate to the nature of 

hazard(s) present and breach of the relevant legislation found. However, Eastleigh Borough 

Council will be robust in the approach to dealing with private sector housing (PSH) matters 

through negotiation and enforcement. 

Effective enforcement is important as a means of maintaining public confidence in the quality and 

safety of private sector housing within the district and supporting our residents’ right to live in an 

environment that is safe & healthy.  

Enforcement powers are part of the statutory obligation placed on the Council to keep housing 

conditions within the district under review and take appropriate action where identified to ensure 

suitable standards are maintained.  

2. Key Principle of PSH Enforcement 
 

PSH is principally aimed at tackling poor and unsuitable housing conditions, the worst of which 

disproportionally affect the most vulnerable people in society. 

Legislation, national guidance and local policies provide the framework on which PSH 

enforcement is undertaken. 

PSH enforcement can be reactive or proactive. 

• Reactive – reports of poor housing conditions of a residential dwelling can be made by any 

person including local residents, Councillors and partner organisations (such as Hampshire 

Fire & Rescue Service or Hampshire County Council Adult Services).  

• Proactive – monitoring of licenced properties to ensure compliance with conditions set, 

targeted inspections in areas or tenures which are known to typically be in poor condition. 

The nature and intensity of any investigation will differ on each case and is dependent on the type 

of dwelling and issue(s) reported/identified. 

3. Enforcement Principles 
 

• Proportionality – Any action that is taken will relate to the severity of the hazard(s) posed 

and/or the seriousness of the breach of legislation with due consideration given to any 

particular vulnerability that any of the relevant parties may have. Officers will consider the 

61



 

6 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

full range of powers available to them which may include no action, informal discussions, 

negotiation or taking formal enforcement action.  

• Consistency – Officers act in a similar way when faced with similar circumstances. The 

Council will also work with other services and Authorities to ensure that consistency is 

maintained at a local and national level as far as possible. It does not imply uniformity; 

rather a full and proper consideration of all the circumstances of a case to establish what 

reasonable and adequate requirements will remedy the matter.  

• Transparency – The Council will try to help people understand what the law requires of 

them and make clear what needs to be done to achieve compliance. The Council will also 

make clear what people should do if they are not happy about any action taken or a 

decision not to take action. The Council will also provide transparency and clarity on 

courses of action that will be undertaken. 

• Targeting – Our proactive enforcement efforts will be directed towards those whose 

activities pose the most serious risks or create the most danger to residents and those who 

have a history of non-compliance. 

4. How do I report poor housing conditions? 
 

Anonymous reports will not be investigated unless they relate to a serious matter of public 

safety or indicate a hazard that poses an imminent risk of extreme harm or death to any occupant 

at the property reported. 

Reports relating to rented accommodation will not be investigated where a tenant has not 

first informed the landlord of the issue and allowed a reasonable period of time for the 

landlord to respond to the matter. The exceptions being where the reports indicate a hazard 

that poses an imminent risk of extreme harm or death to any occupant at the property reported.  

It is useful for us to have as much information as possible, such as: 

• Description of the disrepair issue and which room(s)/area it is located in 

• How long the item of disrepair has been present. 

• When the responsible party (i.e. landlord) for the property was notified of the problem 

• Following notification, the response (if any) from the responsible party. 

• Address of property concerned 

• Name/address/telephone number of owner/landlord/managing agent 

• Name/address/telephone number of complainant 

• If rented, when they started tenancy & type of tenancy agreement held. 

Eastleigh Borough Council actively encourages the use of the on-line reporting forms, all of which 

can be found on the Council’s website. 

You can also contact Eastleigh Borough Council in person, by telephone on 023 8068 8000 or by 

letter to the following address: 

Housing Enforcement 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

62



 

7 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

Eastleigh House 

Upper Market Street 

Eastleigh 

Hampshire 

SO50 9YN 

 

For out of hours contact, please ring, 023 8068 8000 and follow the option menu (This is strictly for 

emergencies only) 

5. Confidentiality 
 

All investigations are dealt within the strictest confidence and details of the complainant will not be 

made known. However, while every effort is made to safeguard the confidentiality of the 

complainant, we cannot prevent assumptions being made by landlords/licence holders/managing 

agents. 

6. How long will an investigation take? 
 

An enforcement investigation can be lengthy and complex and the time taken to conclude each 

case will vary greatly.  

On receipt of a report the Council aims to: 

• Register and acknowledge the report within 3 working days. 

• Undertake an initial review of the case within 15 working days. 

o The nature of the initial review will vary for each case and may consist of a desktop 

study, a phone call or an inspection of the property.  

• Provide an update at key stages in the investigation and/or when significant progress has 

been made. 

• Advise the person who made the report of the outcome of the investigation and if / what any 

further action will be taken/required. 

7. What if someone makes a report about a property I’m responsible 

for? 
 

If you are contacted as the owner/landlord/responsible person for a property you are entitled to 

know what the reported/identified issue is (but not who reported it) and you will be given an 

opportunity to respond. Your co-operation may be sought to remedy the matter and a period of 

time proportionate to the nature of the issue identified will be allowed for you to do this. 

The Council will in most cases give you a chance to put matters right before taking formal action 

but if the issue is causing serious harm and/or you have a history of non-compliance, formal action 

will not be delayed by protracted discussions. 

63



 

8 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

8. Investigating PSH enforcement cases  
 

PSH enforcement covers a range of regulatory areas, each of which while having broadly the 

same aspects, will differ slightly. In each of the following paragraphs where there are specific 

differences it will be clearly identified:   

8.1. Property inspection 

In most cases, officers will undertake an inspection of the property in order to establish whether 

any offences or breaches have been committed and/or to ascertain whether any other parts of the 

relevant legislation needs to be applied. 

8.2. Powers of Entry 

The Council’s authorised officers have a number of powers of entry, with The Housing Act 2004, 

section 239(3) or (7) is primarily used for this purpose. However, officers do also have powers of 

entry under the legislation listed below and these may be used instead of the Housing Act 2004 

where appropriate to the investigation.  

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Schedule 3, para. 2 

• Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 – Section 22 

• Public Health Act 1936 – Section 287 

• Building Act 1984 – Section 95 

• Local Government and Housing Act 1989 – Section 97 

The power of entry is to enter the land or premises at any reasonable hour for the purpose of 

carrying out an inspection and/or investigation either required by the legislation or in order to 

ascertain if any part of the relevant legislation should apply. 

For most of the above powers of entry, a minimum of 24 hours’ notice of the intended entry must 

be given to the owner/landlord/responsible party for the property. The exceptions to this being: 

• Under Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 7 days’ notice must be provided. 

• Section 239(7) of Housing Act 2004, does not require any notice to be given, if the purpose 

of the inspection is in relation to sections 72, 95 or 234. These sections relate to licenced 

HMOs, houses required to be licensed under Part 3 and HMO management regulations 

respectively.   

If officers are refused entry, the Council has the right to apply to the Magistrates Court for a 

warrant to enter the land/property. This course of action will only be taken in cases where it is 

considered both necessary and proportionate to the matter under investigation. 

Any person who wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in exercise of a right of entry 

commits an offence and may be liable on summary conviction to a fine, the level of which is 

specified by the respective legislation: 

• Level 4 – Housing Act 2004, Building Act 1984 

• Level 3 – Environmental Protection Act 1990, Local Government & Housing Act 1989 

• Level 1 – Public Health Act 1936, Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 

64



 

9 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-

of-fines).  

8.3. Information Gathering 

There are two main legislative tools used for gathering information as part of a PSH enforcement 

investigation: 

1. Section 16 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 - (Requisition for 

Information Notice) 

• This section allows the Local Authority to request particulars of persons interested in 

the property.  

• Can be served on any person with an interest in the property or who use/rent the 

property.  

 

2. Section 235 Housing Act 2004 - (Requisition for Documents Notice) 

• This section allows the Local Authority to request any documents that may be 

reasonably required in relation to a property and the person served can be 

reasonably expected to hold or have in their control. 

• Can be served on any person who is (or proposed to be): 

• A licence holder,  

• To be managing or having control of the property 

• To be otherwise involved in the management of the property 

• Occupies the property 

• Has an estate or interest in the property. 

Failure to respond to either of the above notices within the specified time frame is a criminal 

offence and may lead to prosecution. These notices do not register as a Land Charge and are not 

included on the Council’s Enforcement Register. 

In addition to the above there is also the following tool available to the Council. 

 

3. Regulation 37 of The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2015 – (Compliance Notice) 

• This allows the Local Authority to request such information as it considers necessary 

to enable it to determine if a breach of the regulations has occurred.  

• Can be served on any person provide that person appears to the Local Authority to 

be or have been in breach of one or more regulations. 

Failure to respond to the above is a breach of the regulations and so may incur a financial penalty. 

We may also, as part of gathering information during an investigation, refer to information held 

within other parts of the Council such as Council Tax records and Electoral Register, as well as 

some external databases such Land Registry records or Ministry of Housing and Communities & 

Local Government’s (MHCLG) Rogue Landlord Database.  

Where it is believed an offence has been committed the Council may choose to conduct an 

interview under caution, in accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) 

65

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-of-fines
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-of-fines


 

10 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

codes of practice as a means of gathering further information and/or to assist in determining what 

further action is appropriate.  

9. Possible Outcomes 
Some PSH issues reported are of a minor nature and formal action cannot be justified, so it is 

important to be aware that the Council may not address all disrepair items and will only act when it 

is expedient to do so. Action will only be taken where the hazards identified are of sufficient 

severity and/or having an unacceptable impact on the neighbouring properties. The outcome of 

each case will be based on the individual circumstances of each investigation. 

The possible outcomes are: 

• No action taken – either the reported issue is not within the control of the legislation under 

which PSH operates, or the reported issue is considered to pose a minimal hazard and/or 

impact and that it is not expedient to pursue. 

• Informal action – correspondence will be sent to the relevant party identifying the 

hazard(s) or issues of concern and inviting them to undertake work to address these, within 

an appropriate time. Many people do take the positive steps required to rectify the situation 

and formal action is only necessary in a small number of cases. 

• Formal action – If we are unable to resolve the matter through informal action or the 

hazard(s), breach or circumstances is/are so serious, the Council has the power and, in 

some circumstances a duty, to take formal enforcement action. The nature of the hazard(s), 

breach or circumstances will determine the type of formal action chosen by the Council.  

10. Formal Enforcement Action 

10.1. Enforcement Notices & Orders 

A number of different enforcement notices & orders are available to the Council under the various 

legislations that may apply to PSH enforcement cases. Regardless of which legislation the notice 

or Order is under, all will be duly served by either hand delivery or first class post.  

• Housing Act 2004 – There is a range of enforcement notices & orders available under this 

legislation. The appropriate enforcement option will be determined by the authorised officer 

and be based on their professional judgement and where applicable guided by their 

Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessment. 

 

The HHSRS is set out in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 and is the method prescribed for 

assessing how likely it is that the condition of a property will cause an unacceptable hazard 

to the health of the occupant(s). 

 

There are two categories of possible hazards: 

• Category 1 – represents a serious hazard to health and the Council has a duty to 

take appropriate action. 

• Category 2 – represents a lesser hazard and the Council has a power where it 

considers it appropriate to take appropriate action. 

66



 

11 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

 

There are six main enforcement notices & orders under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 as 

briefly outlined below: 

o Hazard Awareness Notice  

This is available for both category 1 and 2 hazards and will state the nature of the 

hazard(s) and residential premises it relates to but does not impose any further 

requirements. 

 

The notice is in effect from the date the notice was served and there is no right of 

appeal. 

 

o Improvement Notice 

This is available for both category 1 and 2 hazards and will state the nature of the 

hazard(s) and residential premises it relates to.  

 

It also imposes requirements to undertake works as specified to mitigate or minimise 

the hazard(s). The notice will stipulate the times by which works are required to 

commence and be completed. 

 

The notice is in effect from the date the notice was served. There is a right of appeal 

which must be made to the First Tier Tribunal (FTT) within 28days from the date the 

notice was served. 

 

o Prohibition Order 

This is available for both category 1 and 2 hazards and will state the nature of the 

hazard(s), residential premises it relates to and clearly stipulate the purposes (which 

may be for all purposes) for which a part or whole of the premises are prohibited to 

be used. 

 

The order comes into effect 28 days after the date on which it was served. There is a 

right of appeal which must be made to the FTT within 28 days from the date the 

order was served. 

 

o Emergency Remedial Action 

This is only available for category 1 hazards and allows the Council to immediately 

undertake works at the premises to mitigate or minimise the hazard 

 

A notice will be served within 7 days of the action being taken and will state the 

nature of the hazard(s), residential premises it relates to and date on which the work 

was or is to be started. 

 

The Council is permitted under the Act to recover any expenses in taking the 

emergency remedial action 

 

The notice is in effect from the date served. There is a right of appeal which must be 

made to the FTT within 28 days from the date the notice was served.  

67



 

12 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

 

o Emergency Prohibition Order 

This is only available for category 1 hazards and will state the nature of the 

hazard(s), residential premises it relates to and clearly stipulate the purposes (which 

may be for all purposes) for which a part or whole of the premises are prohibited to 

be used. 

 

The order is in effect from the date served. There is a right of appeal which must be 

made to the FTT within 28 days from the date the order was served.  

 

o Demolition Order 

This is only available for category 1 hazards and will state the nature of the 

hazard(s), residential premises it relates to and impose a requirement that the 

premises be vacated and demolished. 

 

The order will specify the times on which the order becomes operative and 

demolition must be completed following the order becoming operative or the date on 

which the property is vacated. 

 

There is a right of appeal which must be made to the FTT within 28 days from the 

date the order was served. 

 

As permitted by the legislation the Council charges for most enforcement notices or orders 

that are served under Part 1 of the Act. Details of the current charges can be found on our 

website: https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/are-you-a-landlord/housing-fees-and-

charges 

 

• Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 

o Remedial Notice (regulation 4(1)) 

This shall be served where the Council is satisfied (beyond all reasonable doubt) that 

a landlord has breached one or more duty under regulation 3.  

 

A notice will impose requirements of the remedial action that must be undertaken, 

and works must be completed within 28 days of the date of service. The notice is in 

effect from the date served. 

 

There is a right to make representation in writing to the Council against the service of 

the notice which must be made within 21 days from the date of service. 

 

o Remedial Action Notice (regulation 6(2)) 

This may be served where the Council is satisfied (on the balance of probabilities) 

that a landlord has not complied with a remedial notice served and in so doing 

arrange for the required works to be undertaken. 

 

The notice is in effect from the date served and the Council is permitted under 

regulation 8 to recover any expenses incurred in taking the remedial action 

68

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/are-you-a-landlord/housing-fees-and-charges
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/housing/are-you-a-landlord/housing-fees-and-charges


 

13 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

 

There is a right of appeal which must be made to the FTT within 28 days from the 

date the notice was served. 

 

o Urgent Remedial Action Notice (regulation 10(3)) 

This may be served where the electrical report indicates urgent remedial works are 

required and the Council is satisfied (on the balance of probabilities) that the landlord 

is in breach of his duty under regulation 3(4) 

 

The Council may then arrange for an authorised person to undertake the required 

urgent remedial works. The notice must be served within 7 days of those works 

commencing. 

 

The notice is in effect from the date served and the Council is permitted under 

regulation 8 to recover any expenses incurred in taking the urgent remedial action 

 

There is a right of appeal which must be made to the FTT within 28 days from the 

date the notice was served. 

 

• The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015  

o Remedial Notice (regulation 5(1)) 

Where the Council has reasonable grounds to believe that the requirements of the 

Regulations have not been met by a landlord, there is a duty on the Council to serve 

a ‘remedial notice’. A Remedial notice will specify the premises it relates to and set 

out the duties the Council consider the landlord to have failed to meet and the 

remedial action required to be taken by the landlord within 28 days of the notice. 

 

There is a right to make representations in writing to the Council against the service 

of the notice which must be made within 28 days from the date of service. 

 

Failure to comply with a remedial notice imposes a further duty on the Council to 

arrange remedial action (regulation 7(1)) 

 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 Sect. 80 Abatement Notice – this shall be served 

where a Local Authority is satisfied that a statutory nuisance (as prescribed in section 79) 

exists or is likely to occur or recur.  

 

A notice may impose requirements to; abatement of the nuisance or prohibition or 

restricting its occurrence or recurrence, execution of such works as may be necessary for 

that purpose, or both. The notice will specify time or times within which the requirements 

are to be complied with. 

 

The notice is in effect from the date on which it was served. There is a right of appeal which 

must be made to the Magistrates court within 21 days from the date on which the notice 

was served.   

 

69



 

14 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

• Prevention of Damage by Pests Act Sect. 4 – this may be served where it appears to a 

Local Authority that steps should be taken for the destruction of rats or mice on land or 

otherwise for keeping the land free from rats or mice.   

 

A notice may impose requirements to undertake any form of treatment specified and / or 

carry out repairs or other works as specified. The notice will specify the times by which any 

treatment and/or works are to be carried out.  

 

The notice is in effect from the date on which it was served. There is no right of appeal to 

this notice. 

 

• Building Act 1984 Sect. 59 – this shall be served where it appears to the Local Authority 

that there is; insufficient provision for drainage, drainage infrastructure as specified in (1)(b) 

is defective to the point of admitting subsoil water, drainage infrastructure is in such a 

condition as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance, or former drainage infrastructure no 

longer in use is prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 

A notice may impose requirements to either; make satisfactory provision for drainage, 

undertake works as may be necessary for renewing, repairing or cleansing of the relevant 

part of the drainage infrastructure, or removal or otherwise rendering innocuous the disused 

parts. The notice will specify the times by which any works are to be executed 

 

The notice is in effect from the date the notice was served. There is a right of appeal which 

must be made to the Magistrates Court within 21 days from the date on which the notice 

was served.  

 

• Public Health Act 1936 Sect. 83 & 84 - this shall be served where a local authority are 

satisfied that: 

o Sect. 83 - any premises are in such a filthy or unwholesome condition as to be 

prejudicial to health and/or verminous 

o Sect. 84 – any article in any premises is in so filthy a condition as to render 

cleansing, purification or destruction necessary, or is verminous or having in contact 

with is likely to be verminous. 

A notice may impose requirements to undertake work specified to remedy the condition of 

the premises and/or articles within the premises. The notice will specify the times by which 

any works are to be executed.  

The notice is in effect from the date the notice was served. There is a right of appeal which 

must be made to the Magistrates Court within 21 days from the date on which the notice 

was served.  

• Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) 

In respect of a wholly unoccupied property and in accordance with the Housing Act 2004, 

Part 4, the Council may consider seeking an interim EDMO by application to First Tier 

Tribunal (FTT).  

 

70



 

15 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

The Council will only consider using this power as one of last resort and where the property 

is in a habitable condition or can be made habitable at a reasonable cost and is likely to 

become occupied if this action is taken. 

 

An EDMO gives the Council the right to possession of the property. The Council does not 

take over ownership but is entitled to possession of it and can prevent the owner from using 

it or letting someone else use it while the order is in force 

 

There are two stages of an EDMO: 

o Interim EDMO – last for an initial period of 12 months during which time the Council 

must work with the owner to agree a way of getting the property back into use. The 

Council would still need to seek the owner’s permission to let the property during this 

period. 

o Final EDMO – lasts for a maximum period of 7 years and in this stage the owner has 

fewer rights in how the property is brought back into use. 

If the Council does not proceed to make a final EDMO full possession is returned to the 

owner. 

10.2. Works in default  

Where the Council has issued a notice requiring specified works to be done within a set time 

period and those served with the notice have failed to comply, the Council has powers to carry out 

the works specified. This is referred to as works in default and in undertaking the works, the 

Council has the power to recover any and all expenses incurred as a result. Unpaid expenses can 

be either pursued as a debt in County Court or registered as a land charge payable when the 

land/building is sold.  

This can be a useful tool in ensuring the hazard(s) identified are still mitigated or minimised so 

they do not continue to pose a risk of harm while other formal action may be considered or taken.  

Undertaking works in default does not prevent the Council taking further action in the form of a 

prosecution or civil penalty. 

10.3. Breaches of Regulations 

Failure to comply with the duties placed on a landlord under some regulations, such as the HMO 

Management Regulations1 and the Electrical Safety Standard Regulations2, are to “Breach the 

Regulations” and can thereby be an offence. Breaches of certain regulations may render a 

landlord liable to either a civil penalty or prosecution by the Council, separate to any other formal 

action the Council may take. 

Other Regulations or Orders may alternatively pose other monetary penalty charges or penalties 

in another form, please see Appendix 5 for further details. 

 
1 Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/372/contents/made 
2 Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934/regulation/14 

71

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/372/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934/regulation/14


 

16 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

10.4. Civil Penalty 

Under provisions granted to the Local Authority in the Housing & Planning Act 2016 the Council 

has the discretion, where they believe a relevant offence has been committed, to issue a civil 

penalty notice (CPN) in lieu of taking a prosecution. A CPN levies a fine which is payable to the 

Council and if it is not paid can be pursued as a debt in County Court. 

Each Local Authority is required under the Act and in reference to the guidance issued by the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)3 to implement its own civil 

penalties scheme and charging structure with reference to this guidance to determine the use and 

level of civil penalties issued.  

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for prosecution. This means 

that before issuing a civil penalty, a local housing authority should, in accordance with section 

249(A)(1)4, be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that a relevant housing offence has been 

committed.  

Please see Appendix 1 (Housing Civil Penalties policy) for more details on the use & application of 

this option.   

The Electrical Safety Standard Regulations also grant the Local Authority discretion to levy a 

financial penalty. As the maximum permitted fine amount is the same as that specified for Civil 

Penalties under the Housing & Planning Act 2016, the same matrix and considerations as outline 

in Appendix 1 will also be used for determining the fine amount under these regulations. 

10.5. Prosecution 

Where the Council is satisfied that an offence has been committed, whether by failure to comply 

with the requirements of a notice served or a direct breach of the relevant legislation has occurred, 

the case may be considered for prosecution. Prosecutions will be sought where it is expedient to 

do so and there is a public benefit to taking the case to court.  

Prosecutions cannot be undertaken on cases where a CPN has already been issued for the same 

offence.  

10.6. Enforced Sale 

The Council will only consider enforced sale of a property where it is in relation to long term empty 

property and where it is appropriate.  

This is available where a debt has been incurred e.g. following works in default, and that debt has 

been registered against the property on the local land charges register. This power of sale comes 

from the Law of Property Act 1925.  

Enforced sale forces the owner to sell the property or land so as to recover their debt. The Council 

will only consider using this power as one of last resort.  Please see Appendix 4 (Enforced Sales 

Policy) for more details on the use & application of this option. 

 
3 Civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016: Guidance for Local Housing Authorities 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalt
y_guidance.pdf 
4 Housing Act 2004 (as amended) - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/249A 

72

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/249A


 

17 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

10.7. Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) 

A CPO will only be considered on a PSH enforcement case where it is in relation to a long term 

empty property and all other possible actions or options have been exhausted to no effect.  

Guidance issued by MHCLG5 encourages Local Authorities to make use of their CPO powers. The 

MHCLG is the department responsible for handling housing and planning CPOs. The Council must 

submit applications to confirm CPOs. 

CPOs are a lengthy process but have been proven to be effective and are usually structured along 

the following lines: 

• Formulation – proposal and negotiations are undertaken to see if a CPO is justified 

• Resolution – the Council decides to serve the order 

• Order – the CPO is submitted to MHCLG and Secretary of State 

• Objections – the owner and local residents have a chance to object 

• Inquiry – (if required) there is a public inquiry 

• Decision – the order is confirmed by Secretary of State or an inspector so authorised by 

the Secretary of State 

• Possession – this usually takes a minimum of 3 months following order being confirmed 

• Compensation – the owner is compensated for the loss of the property where appropriate 

(although this is not always applicable where certain enforcement notices have been 

served) 

All properties which had a CPO served on them will be sold on, preferably through auction, and 

monitored to ensure they are brought back into use.  

10.8. Banning Order 

Under provisions granted to the Local Authority in the Housing & Planning Act 2016, the Council 

can apply to the First Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) for a banning order against an individual 

and/or body corporate following conviction of a relevant banning order offence.  

Banning orders are awarded for a period of no less than 12 months and can ban an individual from 

any of the following: 

• Letting houses in England 

• Engaging in letting agency work within England 

• Engaging in property management work within England 

• Doing two or more of the above.  

Each Local Authority is required under the Act and in reference to the guidance issued by the 

MHCLG6 to develop and implement its own policy as to when to pursue a banning order and to 

 
5 Guidance on Compulsory purchase process and The Crichel Down Rules 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817392/CPO_guida
nce_-
_with_2019_update.pdf#targetText=A%20compulsory%20purchase%20order%20should,interest%20in%20the%20lan
d%20affected. 
6 Banning Order Offences under the Housing and Planning Act 2016: Guidance for Local Housing Authorities 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697643/Banning_or
der_guidance.pdf 

73

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817392/CPO_guidance_-_with_2019_update.pdf#targetText=A%20compulsory%20purchase%20order%20should,interest%20in%20the%20land%20affected.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817392/CPO_guidance_-_with_2019_update.pdf#targetText=A%20compulsory%20purchase%20order%20should,interest%20in%20the%20land%20affected.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817392/CPO_guidance_-_with_2019_update.pdf#targetText=A%20compulsory%20purchase%20order%20should,interest%20in%20the%20land%20affected.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817392/CPO_guidance_-_with_2019_update.pdf#targetText=A%20compulsory%20purchase%20order%20should,interest%20in%20the%20land%20affected.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697643/Banning_order_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697643/Banning_order_guidance.pdf


 

18 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

decide the most appropriate course of action on a case-by-case basis in line with that policy. 

Please see Appendix 2 (Banning Orders policy) for more details on the use & application of this 

option. 

10.9. Rent Repayment Orders 

Under provisions granted to the Local Authority in the Housing Act 2004 and extended in the 

Housing & Planning Act 2016, the Council can apply to the First Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) 

for rent repayment orders.  

Rent repayment orders require a landlord to repay a specified amount of rent to either; the tenant 

if rental payments had been directly provided wholly or in part by them or, the Local Authority if 

rental payments were made wholly or in part through Housing Benefit or Universal Credit.  

Each Local Authority is required under the Act and in reference to the guidance issued7 to 

implement its own rent repayment orders policy as to when a rent repayment order will be applied 

for and how they will determine the amount of repayment sought. Please see Appendix 3 (Rent 

Repayment Orders policy) for more details on the use & application of this option. 

11. Investigation Standards 
 

If you have a problem with the service provided please contact the Investigating Officer in the first 

instance. If you remain dissatisfied with the service provided, the action taken or the lack of action, 

a formal complaint can be made in accordance with Eastleigh Borough Council’s Complaints 

Procedure. For details please visit our website: https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-

council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx 

 
7 Rent repayment orders under the Housing and Planning Act 2016: Guidance for Local Housing Authorities 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606654/Rent_Repa
yment_Orders_guidance.pdf 

74

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606654/Rent_Repayment_Orders_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606654/Rent_Repayment_Orders_guidance.pdf


 

 75



 

 

Appendix 1 Housing Civil Penalties Policy 

1.1 Scope 

This policy will set out how Eastleigh Borough Council will use housing civil penalties, how it will 

decide when to levy a civil penalty as opposed to prosecuting and how it will determine the level of 

fine issued.  

This policy is designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and when civil 

penalties are imposed, complementing the rest of the Private Sector Housing enforcement policy.  

1.2 Legislation 

Under the Housing & Planning Act 2016 a local authority has the power to impose a civil penalty of 

up to £30,000.00 as an alternative to prosecution for certain specified offences in relation to 

Housing. 

1.3 Considerable Offences 

The following offences can be considered for a civil penalty: 

Housing Act 2004 

• Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30). 

• Offences relating to licensing of HMOs (section 72) 

o Section 72(1) – being in control or managing an HMO which is required to be 

licensed but is not licensed 

o Section 72(2) – being in control or managing an HMO which is licensed but 

knowingly permitting occupation over and above the number authorised by the 

licence.  

o Section 72(3) – being a licence holder who fails to comply with any condition of a 

licence. 

• Offences in relation to licensing under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (section 95). 

o Section 95(1) – being in control or managing a house which is required to be 

licensed but is not so licensed. 

o Section 95(2) – being a licence holder who fails to comply with any condition of a 

licence. 

• Failure to comply with an overcrowding notice (section 139). 

• Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of an HMO (section 234). 

Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 20208 

• Failure to comply with the duties placed on a private landlord (Regulation 3) 

1.4 Principles of Civil Penalties 

In accordance with the MHCLG guidance the charging structure has had consideration to the 

following principles: 

 
8 The regulations are made under section 122 of Housing and Planning Act 2016. Regulations in full - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934  

76

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934


 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

• The severity of the offence – The principle of which is the more serious the offence, the 

higher the civil penalty should be 

• The culpability and track record of the offender – A higher penalty should be imposed 

where the offender: 

o Has a history of failing to comply their obligations, and/or  

o Their actions were deliberate, and/or  

o They knew, or ought to have known, that they were in breach of their 

responsibilities. 

• The harm caused to the tenant – The principle of which is the greater the harm, or 

potential harm, the higher the penalty should be. 

• The appropriate punishment of the offender – A civil penalty is not to be considered an 

easy or lesser option compared to prosecution. While the penalty should be proportionate, 

it is important that it is sufficient, that it has a real economic impact on the offender and 

demonstrates consequences of not complying with their responsibilities. 

• Whether it will deter the offender & others from repeat offending – Aim being that 

while the penalty should be proportionate, it should equally be of sufficiently high amount to 

realistically deter repeat offending. An important part of this deterrence is the wider 

realisation amongst landlords that the Council is committed to levying civil penalties where 

appropriate and that the level will be of appropriately high to punish and deter further 

offending.  

• Whether it will remove financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 

committing the offence – The principle of which is ensure that the offender does not 

benefit from the offence. It should not be cheaper to offend than to ensure a property is 

properly managed and maintained in compliance with the legislation. 

1.5 Determining when to issue civil penalty 

A civil penalty may only be issued as an alternative to prosecution. Therefore, if a civil penalty is 

imposed, the offender is excluded from being prosecuted for the same offence. Equally, if a 

person has (or is being) prosecuted for a particular offence, a civil penalty cannot be issued for the 

same offence. 

The Council, where it deems it necessary and proportionate to do so, will make full use of the 

powers to issue civil penalty notices for applicable offences. 

Civil penalties can only be issued once for each of the considerable offences except those relating 

to management regulations in respect of an HMO (section 234), where a civil penalty can be 

issued per regulation breached.   

Where a letting / managing agent and landlord have committed the same offence, the Council can 

impose a civil penalty on both parties as an alternative to prosecution. The level of fine imposed 

on each party may differ depending on the circumstances of the case. 

The decision whether to issue a civil penalty notice will be made on a case by case basis and in 

consultation with the Council’s legal services. The decision will be made by either the Senior 

Officer or Head of Health & Wellbeing, following a recommendation submitted to them by the case 

officer.  

77



 

3 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

The decision whether to issue a civil penalty will be specifically recorded giving reasons for both 

issuing the financial penalty as well as the amount determined. 

1.6 Determining level of fine 

Although it is clear the Ministry expects local authorities to use the civil penalty powers provided to 

them robustly, the guidance indicates the maximum charge that can be imposed for an offence of 

£30,000 should be “reserved for the very worst offenders”. Instead, the guidance recommends that 

a clear and transparent charging structure be created, which takes into consideration the 

principles of civil penalties as outlined above. 

In keeping with these principles, the Council has developed a matrix by which to calculate the level 

of fine imposed. All of the key principles are assessed with consideration to both the harm and the 

culpability. 

1.6.1 Determining level of Harm 

The seriousness of harm the offence had caused, or could foreseeably cause, must be assessed. 

When deciding the level of harm whether actual, or potential, resulting from the offence the 

Council will have regard to the following: 

Level Considerations 

High • Actual harm to an occupant and/or visitor 

• Serious and substantial risk of harm to an occupant and/or visitor 

• Serious and substantial level of overcrowding 

• Serious effect having a widespread impact 

Medium • Adverse effect on an occupant and/or visitor 

• Moderate risk of harm and/or broader impact. 

Low • Minimal adverse effect on occupant and/or visitor 

• Low risk of harm and/or limited impact 

 

In determining the level of harm the Council will have regard to the person (physical injury, effect 

on health, psychological impact), the community (economic loss, effect on public health) and other 

types of harm.  

The nature of harm will depend on personal characteristics and circumstances of those affected 

(occupant and/or visitor). Factors that indicate a higher degree of harm include where there are 

multiple individuals affected, if individual affected is particularly vulnerable, or if the effect is 

especially serious including the psychological impact.  

1.6.2 Determining level of Culpability 

In determining the culpability the Council will have regard to following: 

Level Considerations 

Very High  • Deliberate acts 

• Purposeful intention to cause harm 

• Flagrant and knowing disregard for law 

High • Reckless in considering whether harm would be caused 

78



 

4 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

• Failed to put in place measures that are recognised legal 
requirements. 

• Ignored advice or warnings from the Council, occupants or other 
regulatory bodies (such as Hampshire Fire & Rescue Service). 

• Failed to take appropriate actions after being alerted to risks. 

• Breaches allowed to continue over a long period of time 

Medium • Negligent in their understanding what harm their actions may 
cause. 

• Systems or procedures in place for adequate management but 
not sufficiently adhered to or implemented. 

Low • Failure to take reasonable care 

• Significant attempts to comply but not fully sufficient. 

1.7 Financial penalty level 

Once the levels of harm and culpability have been assessed the matrix outlined below can be 

used to determine the most appropriate penalty level.  

  Culpability 

  Low Medium High Very High 

H
a
rm

 Low £2,000 £5,000 £10,000 £15,000 

Medium £5,000 £10,000 £15,000 £20,000 

High £10,000 £15,000 £20,000 £30,000 

 

Where there may be aggravating or mitigating factors, consideration will be given to these and 

whether to apply any adjustments to the fine level determined as result of those factors. Any 

adjustment will be determined on the individual circumstances of each case. Any adjustment 

given, either up or down, will not take the fine level be beyond that of the next neighbouring fine 

level in the above matrix. 

Aggravating factors may include, but is not limited to: 

• Previous convictions 

• Financial motivation to offence 

• Obstruction of the investigation 

• Deliberate concealment of activity/evidence 

• Falsification of documentation 

• Deliberate targeting of vulnerable persons 

Mitigating factors may include, but is not limited to: 

• Co-operation with investigation, i.e. attend PACE interview if held 

• Any voluntary steps taken to address issues 

• Genuine acceptance of responsibility and remorse for harm caused (potentially caused) 

• Health reasons preventing reasonable compliance 

• Previous good character or exemplary conduct. 

• No history of previous offences 

• Vulnerable individual(s) where their vulnerability is linked to the commission of the offence. 

79



 

5 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

1.8 Financial means to pay a civil penalty 

In setting a financial penalty, the Council may conclude that the offender is able to pay any 

financial penalty imposed, unless the offender has supplied suitable and sufficient financial 

information to the contrary.  

It is for the offender to disclose to the Council such data that may be relevant to his financial 

position as will enable the Council to assess what they can reasonably afford to pay. 

Where the Council is not satisfied that it has been given sufficient and/or reliable information, it will 

be entitled to draw reasonable inferences as to the offender’s financial means from the evidence it 

holds and from all of the circumstances of the case which may reasonably be considered relevant 

to making such an inference. 

As offenders may own more than one property in the Borough, it is likely that they will have assets 

that they can sell or borrow against. The Council will take into account the amount of equity that 

could be reasonably released either from sale or refinancing from any such properties (having 

made allowances for any mortgages) in determining the appropriate level of financial penalty to 

impose, where an offender claims to be unable to pay a financial penalty and shows they are on a 

low income.  

1.9 Procedure for Issue of Civil Penalty  

The Council will issue civil penalty notices in accordance with the proscribed procedures and 

requirements as set out in schedule 13A of the Housing Act 2004 and Schedule 1 of the Housing 

and Planning Act 2016.  

• The Council is required to issue a ‘notice of intent’. Under this notice, the person to which it 

relates will have a period of 28 days in which to make written representation to the Council. 

The representation may be via any legible written format. 

• Following the 28 day period and due consideration of any representations received being 

made, should the Council still propose to issue a civil penalty a ‘final notice’ must be 

served. 

• There is a right of appeal to the ‘final notice’ either against the decision to issue and/or the 

amount imposed. The appeal must be made to the First Tier Tribunal (property chamber) 

within 28 days from the date on which the ‘final notice’ is served. The ‘final notice’ is then 

suspended until the appeal is determined or withdrawn. 

Penalties are an alternative to criminal proceedings and as such if a penalty is imposed, no 

criminal proceedings will be initiated for the same offence. The Council may, at any time either; 

withdraw a notice of intent or final notice, or reduce the amount specified in a notice of intent or 

final notice. Where the Council decides to take either action, the person to whom the notices 

relates will be written to.  

1.10 Entry on to Rogue Landlord’s Database 

In accordance with statutory provision relating to the National Rogue Landlord’s Database, where 

a person has received two civil penalties within any 12 month period for offences occurring within 

the Eastleigh Borough Council’s area, the Council will make an entry on the national database. 

When considering an entry, the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary 

of State for this purpose

80



 

 

Appendix 2 Banning Orders Policy 

2.1 Scope 

This policy will set out how Eastleigh Borough Council will decide when to apply for a banning 

order and how it will determine the length of time to request the ban is for.  

This policy is designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and when 

banning orders are sought, complementing the rest of the Private Sector Housing enforcement 

policy. 

2.2 Legislation 

Under the Housing & Planning Act 2016 the Council may apply to the First Tier Tribunal (property 

chamber) (FTT) to impose a banning order on an individual following conviction for a banning 

order offence. 

2.3 Considerable offences 

The offences for which a banning order may be applied for are listed in the statutory regulations 

issued in 20179 and apply to convictions for these offences issued either on or after 6th April 2018. 

Spent convictions should not be considered and if an absolute or conditional discharge for a 

relevant housing offence has been given, then that offence cannot be regarded as a considerable 

banning order offence.  

2.4 Principles of banning orders 

The MHCLG guidance sets out an expectation that banning orders should be aimed at the most 

serious offenders. 

2.5 Length of banning order 

Although the Council will not be able to determine the length of a banning order, a 

recommendation will be made to the FTT with accompanying reasons.  

The length of a banning order is a minimum of a 12 month period but there is no statutory 

maximum limit set.  

2.6 Determining when to apply for a banning order 

The Council will consider applying for a banning order for the most serious and pernicious 

offenders. In doing so, the following factors will be considered: 

• The seriousness of the offence 

• Any previous convictions or listing on the national rogue landlord database 

• The harm to the tenant caused by the offence 

• Whether the punishment is proportional to the offence 

• Whether it provides a sufficient deterrent to prevent repeat offending 

• Whether it deters others from committing similar offences. 

 
9 Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regulations 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2017/9780111162224/contents 

81

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2017/9780111162224/contents


 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

The Council, where it deems it appropriate and proportionate to do so, will make full use of the 

powers to apply for banning orders. 

The decision whether to pursue a banning order will be made on a case by case basis and in 

consultation with the Council’s legal services. The decision will be made by either the Senior 

Officer or Head of Health & Wellbeing following a recommendation submitted to them by the case 

officer.  

2.7 Procedure for applying for a banning order 

The procedure for applying for a banning order is set out in section 15 of the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016. 

• The Council is required to issue a ‘notice of intent’ to the individual within 6 months of them 

being convicted of the relevant offence.  

• Under this notice, the person to which it relates will have a period of 28 days in which to 

make written representation to the Council. The representation may be via any legible 

written format. 

• Following the 28 day period, having given due consideration to any representations 

received, should the Council still propose to pursue a banning order an application will then 

be made to the FTT. 

2.8 Requests for information 

Section 19 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 gives provision to the Local Authority to be able 

to require that a landlord provide information for the purpose of enabling the Council to decide 

whether to apply for a banning order. This can include requiring the landlord to provide details on 

ALL properties that they own. 

In relation to requests for further information made by the Council under this section: 

• It is an offence to ignore or fail to provide the information requested, unless the landlord can 

provide a reasonable excuse.  

• It is an offence to provide false or misleading information. 

• Offences are punishable on summary conviction to a fine 

2.9 Consequences of a banning order 

Where a banning order is made, the individual will be determined not to be “fit and proper” to hold 

a licence under Part 2 or 3 of the Housing Act 2004 and any licences in force under those parts 

will be revoked.  

Where a banning order is made, the individual is prohibited from: 

• Letting housing in England 

• Engaging in letting agency work within England 

• Engaging in property management work within England; or 

• Doing two or more of those things (to ensure that any order is effective and to prohibit 

engagement in other related activities) 

82



 

3 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

It is a criminal offence to breach a banning order and is punishable on summary conviction to 

imprisonment, a fine, or both. 

2.10 Entry on to Rogue Landlord’s Database 

In accordance with statutory provision relating to the National Rogue Landlord’s Database, where 

a successful banning order has been made, the Council must make an entry on the national 

database. The entry is maintained for the period the banning order is in effect. 

2.11 Publicity following a banning order 

Where a successful banning order has been made, the Council will consider whether to publish 

details of these, including the name of the individual. Advice from the Council’s legal services will 

be sought where appropriate and consideration will be given to the Ministry of Justice guidance as 

to whether publish sentencing outcomes10. 

Information on banned landlords will be made available to tenants on written request. 

 
10 Publicising Sentencing Outcomes: Guidance for public authorities on publicising information (including via the 
internet) about individual sentencing outcomes 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487464/20150413-
Publishing_Sentencing_Outcomes_MoJ_Guidance_HQMCSPA-O.pdf 

83

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487464/20150413-Publishing_Sentencing_Outcomes_MoJ_Guidance_HQMCSPA-O.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487464/20150413-Publishing_Sentencing_Outcomes_MoJ_Guidance_HQMCSPA-O.pdf


 

 

Appendix 3 Rent Repayment Orders (RRO) Policy 

3.1 Scope 

This policy will set out how Eastleigh Borough Council will decide when to apply for a rent 

repayment order (RRO) and has 

This policy is designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and when RROs 

are sought, complementing the rest of the Private Sector Housing enforcement policy. 

3.2 Legislation 

The Housing & Planning Act 2016 extended the provision already within the Housing Act 2004 for 

the use of RROs. Under these provisions the Council may apply to the First Tier Tribunal (FTT) for 

a RRO. 

3.3 Principles of rent repayment orders 

RROs are intended to have a real economic impact on an offender and demonstrate the 

consequences of not complying with their responsibilities. The responsible person is forced to 

repay rent, and thereby loses much, if not all, of the benefit that accrued to them by committing the 

offence. 

3.4 Considerable Offences 

The following offences under the Housing Act 2004 can be considered for a RRO: 

• Section 72(1) - Failure to obtain a licence for a licensable HMO  

• Section 95(1) - Failure to obtain a licence for a licensable property 

• Section 30 - Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice  

• Section 32 - Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order  

The following other offences can also be considered for a RRO: 

• Housing & Planning Act 2016, Section 21 - Breaching a banning order  

• Criminal Law Act 1977, Section 6 - Used violence to secure entry to a property 

• Protection from Eviction Act 1977, section 1 - Illegally evicted or harassed the occupiers 

This applies for offences committed on or after the 6th April 2017. 

3.5 Determining whether to apply for a rent repayment order 

Where the Council has secured a successful prosecution for a relevant offence they may apply for 

a RRO. 

The Council may also consider applying for a RRO when a relevant offence has been committed, 

whether or not the person responsible has been convicted. In this instance the FTT will need to be 

satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord has committed the offence 

In deciding whether a RRO is appropriate and how much should be recovered, consideration will 

be given to the following: 

• Whether the punishment is proportional to the offence 

• Whether it provides a sufficient deterrent to prevent repeat offending 

84



 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

• Whether it deters others from committing similar offences. 

• Removal of any financial benefit the offender may have gained as a result. 

Seeking an RRO does not preclude or prevent the Council from also considering a prosecution or 

a civil penalty (unless the offence is being/has been prosecuted). 

Where it is determined that it is appropriate and proportionate to apply for an RRO the Council will 

seek to recover the maximum amount possible.  

The decision whether to pursue a RRO will be made on a case by case basis and in consultation 

with the Council’s legal services. The decision will be made by either the Senior Officer or Head of 

Health & Wellbeing following a recommendation submitted to them by the case officer.  

3.6 Procedure for applying for a rent repayment order 

RROs can only be applied to the named landlord of the property. The procedure for applying for a 

RRO is set out in sections 41 & 42 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

• The Council is required to issue a ‘notice of intent’ to the individual within 12 months of the 

date on which the offence was committed.  

• Under this notice, the person to which it relates will have a period of 28 days in which to 

make written representation to the Council. The representation may be via any legible 

written format. 

• Following the 28 day period, having given due consideration to any representations 

received, should the Council still propose to pursue a RRO an application will then be made 

to the FTT. 

A tenant can apply directly for a RRO providing that the offence relates to housing they occupied 

at the time of the offence and the application is made within 12 months of the offence being 

committed.  

A tenant does not need to go through the same process as the Council, as outlined above, they 

need only submit a claim form directly to the FTT setting out their reasons and date to which it 

relates. 

There is no statutory obligation on the Council to support a tenant making their own claim. 

However, where the Council has evidence in support of the tenant’s case it will make this available 

to the tenant on request for the purposes of the claim. 

3.7 Consequences of a rent repayment order 

Rent repayment orders require a landlord to repay a specified amount of rent to either;  

• The tenant if rental payments had been directly provided wholly by them; or  

• The Local Authority if rental payments were made wholly through Housing Benefit or 

Universal Credit; or 

• Both the tenant and Local Authority if rental payments were jointly paid by both, with 

repayment made to each in the same ratio to which the rent was originally covered. 

The maximum amount of rent that can be recovered is capped at 12 months. Where a landlord 

refuses to pay the debt can be pursued through the County Court 

85



 

1 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

Appendix 4 Enforced Sale 

4.1 Scope 

This policy will set out Eastleigh Borough Council’s position as to when and how the Council will 

consider the use of Enforced Sale.  

This policy is designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and when 

Enforced Sales are used, complementing the rest of the Private Sector Housing enforcement 

policy. 

This policy does not cover the right to sell a property because of Council Tax arrears, as that 

requires an application to court and an order for sale, whilst an enforced sale required no court 

action. 

4.2 Legislation 

The powers to carry out an enforced sale sits within the Law of Property Act 1925, there are a 

number of statutes which enable a charge to be placed on a property in the event of Works in 

Default which then confers a power of sale under the Act. The most common statutes to which this 

would apply are listed in the table below along with some notable differences between them. The 

following table is not exhaustive: 

Act Sections Comments 

Prevention of Damage by 
Pests Act 1949 

• S. 4 – Rats and Mice • Charge arises from date 
works are completed 

• Priority charge 

• Reasonable interest can be 
claimed from date of service 
of demand 

Building Act 1984 • S. 59 – Drainage 

• S. 60 – Soil vent pipe 

• S. 76 – Defective premises 

• S. 77/78 – Dangerous 
buildings 

• S. 84 – yards 

• Charge arises from date 
works are completed. 

• Priority charge 

• Reasonable interest can be 
claimed from date of service 
of demand 

Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 

• S. 80 – Statutory nuisance • Charge arises 21 days after 
service of demand  

• Reasonable interest can be 
claimed 

Housing Act 2004 • S. 11/12 – Improvement 
notice 

• S. 40 – Emergency 
Remedial Action 

• S. 49 – Enforcement Action 

• S. 50 – Recovery of 
Charges under s.49 

• Charge arises 21 days after 
service of demand 

• Reasonable interest can be 
claimed 

 

Town & Country Planning 
Act 1990 

• S. 215 – Untidy state of 
land 

• S. 172 – Planning breach 

• Charge arises from date 
works are completed 

 

 

86



 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

4.3 Key considerations 

In most cases the Council’s charge will take priority over any earlier charges including a 

mortgagee’s charge. However, this is not always the case and if the Council’s charge does not 

take priority then pursuing an enforced sale may not be financially viable.  

4.3.1 Human Rights Act 1998  

Consideration must be given and clearly documented in relation to the Human Rights Act 1998 as 

selling a property belonging to a third party engages Article 8 of the Act as well as Article 1 of 

Protocol 1. A statement setting out the reasons why the action is proportionate in accordance with 

the Act should be sent out in any correspondence with the owner as well as recorded to the case. 

4.3.2 Limitations 

The power to utilise enforced sales is time limited by section 20 of the Limitation Act 1980. This 

states that no action can be brought to recover a sum of money secured by a charge on a property 

after a period of 12 years from the date on which the debt arose. 

4.3.3 Equality Act 2010 

Where the owner appears or is known to be vulnerable or disadvantaged, then officers will 

consider the appropriateness of involving other agencies who could assist and/or advocate for the 

owner. Officers will carefully consider the impact using the enforced sales may have, whether 

there are any steps that could be taken to mitigate the effect of using this option and will have due 

regard at all times to the Council’s obligations under the Equality Act 2010. 

4.4 Criteria for Enforced Sale 

If the property remains empty and its associated problems continue, then Enforced Sale may be 

considered provided the following criteria are met: 

• It is a residential property 

• The property is untidy, in disrepair or detrimental to the local amenity and where the Council 

can demonstrate that it has made every reasonable effort to improve through other means 

• The property has been empty for more than 2 years 

• The property has outstanding financial local land charges of over £1000. However,  where 

the debt is below £1000 but the owner cannot be traced or is refusing to co-operate, the 

use of enforced sale may still be considered.  

• The debt has been owed to the Council for more than three months 

• The owner is either: 

o Unknown to the Council (having made all reasonable effort to ascertain ownership 

details); or 

o Cannot be found; or 

o Is known but cannot be located; or 

o Is known and, having been located, been afforded every opportunity to improve the 

property or dispose of it but has shown no inclination to do either 

• The location of the property and the prevailing tenure or economic conditions of the area 

indicate that sale and occupation would likely be readily achieved 

87



 

3 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

• The action is in the interests of the community and local environment and is the best means 

of ensuring that the property is not allowed to deteriorate further/again. 

4.5 Determining whether to pursue an Enforced Sale 

The decision whether to pursue an Enforced Sale will be made on a case by case basis and in 

consultation with the Council’s legal services. The decision will be made by either the Senior 

Officer or Head of Health & Wellbeing following a recommendation & report submitted to them by 

the case officer. 

4.6 Marketing Property 

At no time in the enforced sales process does the Council take possession of the property. The 

Council will have no more rights of access than it does for any other private house and as such is 

not able to provide access for viewings of the property to potential purchasers. 

The Council has a duty to secure the best possible price on a sale. The Council will seek to sell 

any property under enforced sale through Auction but will ensure that marketing will be sufficiently 

wide to ensure competitive bidding takes place. 

4.7 Procedure 

The Council will in accordance with recognised good practice, write to the owner reminding them 

of the existence of the charge(s) and providing copies of the original notice(s) and previous 

demands for money and give a period of 21 days before commencing further with the enforced 

sale procedure. 

The Council is required to serve a legal notice under section 103 of the Law of Property Act 1925 

after which a period of no less than 3 months must be given for the payment of any outstanding 

debt. This notice will be prepared and served by the Council’s legal services. 

If the debt remains outstanding then an application is made to the Land Registry for the 

registration of the charge and, where applicable, claiming priority over all other charges. This 

application is made by the Council’s legal services. 

Once the charge has been registered and the Charge Certificate received the property can be 

marketed for sale at which time a further letter to the owner and any other interested party will be 

sent to warn the charge is to be enforced. 

If, following the recovery of the Council’s charges (including its legal and sale costs) and any other 

outstanding charges, there remains a balance then this will be paid to the owner. In cases where 

the Council has not been able to identify or locate the owner, the remaining balance will be 

retained by the Council and after a period of 12 years the owner will cease to have the right to 

claim this money. 

  

88



 

1 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

Appendix 5 Other monetary penalty charges 

5.1 Smoke Alarm & Carbon Monoxide (England) Regulations 2015 

Where the Council is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that a landlord on whom it has 

served a remedial notice under the regulations has failed to comply and so is in breach of the duty 

under regulation 6(1), the authority may require the landlord to pay a penalty charge under 

regulation 8(1) of such amount as the authority may determine. 

Penalty charges for non-compliance are proposed to be set as follows:  

First Offence £2,500 Reduced to £1,250 if paid within 14 
days of serving the penalty charge 
notice. 

Second or further 
Offence 

£5,000 No reduction for early payment 

 

In determining the level of the penalty charge the Council has considered the likely costs it will 

incur and the amount required to provide a deterrent to non-compliance. Increasing the fine for a 

second or third offence reflects the seriousness of the offence and is designed to deter repeat 

offending.  

While these charges are set as standard, a landlord may seek to review a penalty charge notice 

within 28 days by making representation to the Council. A senior officer not directly involved in the 

service of the original notice, usually the Senior Officer in the team or in their absence the 

Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing, will carry out this review. The reviewing officer will consider 

the representations made by the landlord and decide whether to confirm, vary or withdraw the 

penalty charge notice.  

In doing so the reviewing officer will have regard to the amount required for the Council to recover 

its costs, that the Council has considered and agreed a level of fine that it considers is sufficient to 

act as a deterrent to non-compliance and any other relevant issues. After reviewing the penalty 

notice the reviewing officer will inform the landlord by service of notice of their decision. The notice 

will give the reasons for the decision, the amount to be paid, how to pay and by when. It shall also 

include information about rights of appeal and the consequences of non-payment which would 

usually be prosecution.  

The 50% reduction for a first offence will apply to any revised charge set should payment be within 

14 days of service of the revised notice.  

5.2 The Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work and Property 

Management Work (Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc.) (England) 

Order 2014  

Where the Council is ‘satisfied on the balance of probabilities’ that a person has failed to belong to 

a redress scheme as required by article 3 or 5 of the 2014 Order, it may by notice require that 

person to pay a ‘monetary penalty’.  

The Council will follow the procedure for issuing a monetary penalty as set out in the 2014 Order. 

This includes serving notice that it intends to issue a monetary penalty for specified reasons. It will 

89



 

2 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

also outline how the person notified can submit any representations and what the appeal process 

is.  

The standard penalty charge for breach of duty under article 3 or 5 will be set as follows:  

Breach of duty under article 3 
or 5 

£5,000 Reduced to £2,500 if paid within 14 
days of serving of the notice (for 
first offence only) 

 

In determining the level of the penalty charge the Council has considered the likely costs it will 

incur and the amount required to act as a deterrent to non-compliance. If written representations 

are received within 28 days of the service of the notice of intent, a senior officer not directly 

involved in the service of the original notice, usually the Senior Officer in the team or in their 

absence the Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing, will carry out a review.  

When considering any formal review of a notice of intent, the reviewing officer will consider the 

representations and decide whether to serve the final notice. The final notice shall state the 

reasons for imposing the monetary penalty, the amount to be paid, how to pay and by when. The 

notice shall include information about rights of appeal and the consequences of non-payment 

which would usually be prosecution.  

The 50% discount will apply to any revised charge set, should payment be within 14 days of 

service of the revised notice. The reviewing officer will refer to this protocol in considering any 

request for a review. 

5.3 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) 

The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 (as 

amended) requires primarily that landlords:  

• Have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and provide a copy to tenants whenever 

they rent their properties out; and 

• Ensure all rented homes have at least an E rating on the EPC or have been otherwise 

registered for a specified exemption. 

Where the Council is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that a landlord has been at any time 

in the preceding 18 months in breach of one or more of the regulations 23, 36 or 37(4)(a), it may 

serve a penalty notice which imposes either a financial penalty, publication penalty or both.  

Financial Penalty: Where a financial penalty is issued penalty charges for non-compliance are 

proposed to be set as follows:  

Renting out 
non-
compliant 
property 
(reg 23) 

In breach 
less than 3 
months 

£2,000 Reduced by 50% if paid within 14 days of 
serving the penalty charge notice (first 
offence only) 

In breach 
more than 3 
months 

£4,000 No reduction for early payment 

90



 

3 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy - 2020 

Providing false or 
misleading information on 
exemptions register  
(reg 36) 

£1,000 Reduced by 50% if paid within 14 days of 
serving the penalty charge notice (first 
offence only) 

Failing to comply with a 
compliance notice  
(reg 37(4)(a)) 

£2,000 Reduced by 50% if paid within 14 days of 
serving the penalty charge notice (first 
offence only). 

 

The Council may not impose a financial penalty under both options in relation to regulation 23 with 

regard to the same breach. However, the Council may impose one of the options combined with 

penalties under the other regulations in relation to the same breach. Where this is done the total 

combined amount of financial penalty shall not be more than £5,000. 

In determining the level of the penalty charge the Council has considered the likely costs it will 

incur and the amount required to provide a deterrent to non-compliance. Not offering an early 

repayment on repeat offences or where the breach in the case of regulation 23 has been for over 

3 months reflects the seriousness of the offence and is designed to deter repeat offending.  

While these charges are set as standard, a landlord may seek to review a penalty charge notice 

within 28 days by making representation to the Council. A senior officer not directly involved in the 

service of the original notice, usually the Senior Officer in the team or in their absence the 

Executive Head of Health & Wellbeing, will carry out this review. The reviewing officer will consider 

the representations made by the landlord and decide whether to confirm, vary or withdraw the 

penalty charge notice.  

In doing so the reviewing officer will have regard to the amount required for the Council to recover 

its costs, that the Council has considered and agreed a level of fine that it considers is sufficient to 

act as a deterrent to non-compliance and any other relevant issues. After reviewing the penalty 

notice the reviewing officer will inform the landlord by service of notice of their decision. The notice 

will give the reasons for the decision, the amount to be paid, how to pay and by when. It shall also 

include information about rights of appeal and the consequences of non-payment which would 

usually be prosecution.  

The 50% reduction for a first offence will apply to any revised charge set should payment be within 

14 days of service of the revised notice.  

Publication Penalty: The Council will publish details of the landlord’s breach on a publicly 

accessible part of the Private Rented Sector Exemptions Register. It will also decide how long to 

leave the information on the Register, but it will be available for view by the public for no less than 

12 months. Information cannot be published whilst a Penalty Notice is/could be reviewed or 

could/is being appealed. 

91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CABINET  

THURSDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 AN INTERIM SCHEME FOR MITIGATING RECREATIONAL IMPACTS 
FROM NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ON THE NEW FOREST 

Report of the Corporate Director – Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that Cabinet approves in principle the development of a package 
of mitigation measures, including creating areas of Suitable Alternative Natural 
Green Space (SANG) and providing financial contributions towards the 
management of visitor pressures to assist in the mitigation of the impacts of the 
increasing Borough population on the New Forest National Park and notes that the 
detail will be brought back for approval at a later date.   

 

Summary 
 
Increased development leads to a number of environmental and other impacts which need 
to be mitigated to minimise harm.  One of these impacts is from recreational pressures 
causing erosion and disturbance on the Solent and the New Forest Special Protection 
Area (SPA) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 

Although Eastleigh Borough Council does not border the New Forest National Park there 
is evidence that residents of the Borough choose to visit the area from time to time and 
thus contribute towards erosion of the internationally important habitats and disturbance of 
the species they support. This evidence has been reinforced by technical research which 
has been commissioned by the local authorities in and around the New Forest. As a result 
of this new evidence, without suitable mitigation Natural England has advised that 
increased recreational impacts from the growth in resident numbers within the Borough are 
likely to have significant adverse effects on the protected sites and species and will 
maintain an objection to all new dwellings proposed within the Borough until appropriate 
and satisfactory mitigation is agreed. 

This report seeks Cabinet approval for officers to negotiate proportionate and effective 
mitigation measures with Natural England and partner local authorities including the 
creation of Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG) to divert recreational 
pressures away from the New Forest, and financial contributions to managing those 
visitors that nevertheless will still choose to visit it, with the aim of minimising the impacts 
on the New Forest SAC and SPA to acceptable levels and thereby enabling new 
residential development to come forward in the Borough.  

 

93

Agenda Item 8



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Statutory Powers 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019. 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The decision in this report supports the Green Infrastructure, Housing and  
Health and Wellbeing objectives in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025.  It is also 
key to the Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan and will have a 
significant positive impact on the environment.   

Introduction 

2. Local Planning Authorities have a legal duty through the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations (2010) as amended (known as the Habitat 
Regulations) to ensure that planning applications do not have an adverse 
effect on designated sites supporting internationally important species and 
habitats. This includes Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) which are designated for certain bird species they 
support. A large proportion of the New Forest is designated as both an SAC 
and SPA. 

Background 

3. Natural England has advised the Council that there is a likely significant effect 
from any additional residential development within the Borough on the New 
Forest SAC and SPA. This relates to the increase in population from new 
development which will generate additional visits to the New Forest. The 
Emerging Local Plan sets out the policy framework agreed with Natural 
England through policy DM11. This report is brought forward to enable the 
Council to put in place an agreed package of mitigation measures for the 
impacts of new residential development in the Borough.  

4. A net increase in housing development and therefore an increase in 
population, leads to a number of environmental and other impacts which need 
to be mitigated wherever possible to minimise harm.  In previous reports to 
Cabinet the Council has shown a real commitment to ensuring impacts are 
mitigated within the Borough and has sought to facilitate this mitigation by 
bringing forward nitrate mitigation schemes which developers can benefit from 
through the approval to purchase land across the Borough which will see 
environmental improvements. 

5. Natural England now considers the impact of new residential development on 
the New Forest SAC and SPA to be significant enough that objections will be 
raised to all planning applications for new dwellings until satisfactory 
mitigation measures are put in place.  Although Eastleigh Borough Council 
does not border the New Forest National Park there is clear evidence, 

94



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

supported by recently commissioned technical research, that residents of the 
Borough generate a significant number of visits to the New Forest thereby 
contributing to the erosion of important habitats and the disturbance of 
important species. 

6. The Council has been working with adjoining authorities, Natural England, the 
Forestry Commission and other wildlife organisations to develop a strategic 
approach to the protection of the New Forest SAC and SPA from the effects of 
development including recreational disturbance. However, in the absence of a 
current agreed sub-regional strategic approach an interim mitigation package 
for Eastleigh now urgently needs to be developed to provide a way forward in 
considering planning applications.  

7. Recreational impacts are currently considered on a site-by-site basis and 
there has until recently, been a lack of suitable and robust evidence of 
recreational impacts on the New Forest linked to the growth in housing 
against which to asses such impacts. Recent research has identified that 75% 
of all day visitors to the New Forest SAC and SPA come from within a zone of 
13.8km around the boundaries and therefore that all further residential 
development within this catchment zone is likely to have significant adverse 
effects on the designated sites. This includes most of Eastleigh Borough. 
Although other local authorities including the New Forest District Council and 
Test Valley Borough Council have schemes of mitigation in place there is 
currently no strategic scheme of mitigation in place in Eastleigh – only an 
interim policy statement (June 2019) which pledges the Council’s support to 
work with partners in seeking a strategic solution. We have now reached the 
position where Natural England has advised that all new residential 
development in Eastleigh is likely to have significant effects on the New Forest 
SAC and SPA without satisfactory mitigation.  

8. There are two tried and tested approaches to mitigating the effects of 
recreational visits on international designated sites that are based primarily on 
the successful mitigation measures that have been in place to protect the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA for the last decade. These consist of the creation 
of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) to divert recreational 
pressures away from the designated sites, and Strategic Access Management 
and Monitoring (SAMM) of visitors who still choose to visit the designated 
sites. Under this model scheme of mitigation, all new residential development 
within 5km of the Thames Basin Heaths must make financial contributions to 
both SANG and SAMM. It is recommended that a similar approach be 
adopted by this Council to mitigate the effects of new residential development 
on the New Forest SAC and SPA. 

9. The development of SANG would have a significant economic and health 
benefit for Borough residents. Dedicated recreational green space 
encourages healthier lifestyles and would also help to minimise travel outside 
of the Borough.   

95



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Current position 

10. Council officers have been in discussions with Natural England to seek the 
basis for an effective, robust and proportionate package of mitigation 
measures and work is ongoing with Natural England to assess the scale of 
impacts of new residential development within the Borough.  Recent research 
conducted by consultants commissioned by the local authorities in and around 
the New Forest clearly demonstrates that the nearer new residential 
development is to the New Forest SAC and SPA the greater the number of 
visits to the designated sites it is likely to generate and vice-versa. 62% of all 
day visitors to the New Forest live within the first 5km around the designated 
sites. Eastleigh lies beyond this 5km zone and based on a telephone survey 
of 2000 households, Eastleigh ranked 9th in terms of mean visitor rates (circa 
24.57 per annum)  compared to e.g. New Forest District (105.27) and East 
Dorset (53.26) and Test Valley (33.07) and Winchester (18.6).The overall 
average was 48 visits per household per annum1. So Eastleigh households 
make between 40 to 50% less visits than the average. 

11. It is therefore evident that the impact from new housing in the Borough, will 
not be as great as that from an adjacent district.  There is no doubt however 
that there is an impact and with development across the Borough increasing, 
particularly with the One Horton Heath scheme being brought forward, it is 
imperative that the Council seeks to address these impacts as a matter of 
urgency to enable new residential development to come forward.  

12. As previously asserted, it would be possible for a developer to pay 
contributions entirely to the New Forest National Park in order that they can 
use the funds to address impacts directly in the Park.  However, there are no 
real areas of SANG that the Park can extend into and therefore the funding 
would need to be used to mitigate impacts on the existing area.  This could 
include employment of further rangers, more land management and more 
education of users.  It is considered more beneficial both to the National Park 
and to the Council’s residents and businesses if recreational activity can 
predominantly remain in Borough.  This would serve to boost the local 
economy, preserve the National Park and also impact positively on the 
environment with fewer longer journey trips out of Borough. 

13. As Cabinet will recall, in March 2021 a recommendation to move to purchase 
additional land within the Borough was approved which looked to mitigate the 
impacts of nitrates from increased development.  It is possible that a 
proportion of the purchased land could be repurposed to become a substantial 
SANG within the Borough.  There are a number of options for the SANG 
location and further work will need to be carried out to identify the optimum 
site. 

 

                                            
1
 Liley,D., & Panter,c.,(2020). Recreation use of the New Forest SAC/SPA/Ramsar: Results of a telephone 

surveys with people living within 25km. Footprint Ecology 
 

96



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Proposal 

14. It is recommended that Cabinet approve, in principle, a package of mitigation 
measures that includes: 

1. The creation of SANG within the Borough, the size and location of which is 
to be agreed with Natural England proportionate to the scale and location of 
proposed new residential development in the Borough within the Local Plan 
Modifications and the scale of impacts this is likely to generate; and 

2. Equitable and proportionate financial contributions towards measures being 
implemented by the New Forest National Park Authority to manage and 
monitor visitor impacts on the New Forest recognising that the residents of the 
Borough will wish to continue to visit the New Forest because of its special 
landscapes and wildlife. 

15. This approval will enable officers to negotiate the appropriate scale of SANG 
and financial contributions so as to effectively mitigate recreational impacts on 
the New Forest from new residential development. Recommendations will be 
presented to Cabinet  

Potential SANG sites 

16. Members are aware that the Council now owns significant land assets that 
may be suitable for a SANG or SANGs.  A plan is attached at Appendix A 
showing the current areas that officers would evaluate to determine the final 
recommended sites. 

17. In considering using land which has been recently acquired for nitrate 
mitigation as SANG, officers have received assurances from Natural England 
that there would be no negative impact on the number of nitrate credits 
available on the land, or in seeking to simultaneously mitigate the emerging 
issue of phosphate generated through development.  The work proposed by 
officers will identify optimum schemes across all land parcels within the 
Council’s control to determine the most effective way to mitigate all of these 
emerging environmental impacts.  

18. Natural England has recently reviewed its guidance on SANG and has just 
published revised guidance (August 2021). The criteria for SANGs is set out 
within this revised  guidance. It is generally calculated based on a requirement 
of 8ha per 1,000 additional population. However, this standard applies to new 
developments within the greatest zone of impact (5km for the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA). Officers believe there is a good case for negotiating reduced 
SANG requirements given the distance of proposed new development in the 
Borough from the New Forest and the lower level of visits generated per 
household in the Borough compared to neighbouring local authority areas. 
The proposed One Horton Heath development for example lies between 12 
and 14km from the New Forest and therefore on the outermost edge of the 
13.8km catchment zone of visitors.   

97



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

19. In summary a single SANG must be a minimum of 4ha, offer a range of 
informal recreational activities including a choice of 2.5km circular walks, be 
designed to be perceived as safe, have way-markers, be well linked to 
footpaths and make provision for a car park. A semi-natural looking landscape 
with plenty of variation is desirable. SANGs may be provided by the 
enhancement of existing sites, including those already accessible to the public 
that have a low level of use and could be enhanced to attract more visitors. 
However, improvements to existing areas of publicly accessible open space 
would need to demonstrate a significant diversion of people from the New 
Forest to the improved open space to satisfy Natural England’s test for 
SANGs. The opportunities for improving existing open space as an alternative 
to, or support of SANGs, is being discussed with Natural England currently.  

20. If Cabinet approves the principle of creating SANG, officers will continue to 
plan and negotiate SANG provision with Natural England and the aim will be 
for recommendations to be brought back to Cabinet for consideration and 
ratification early next year to finalise site areas, locations and outline designs 
and costings. This additional work may include consideration on the charge 
for SANG credits if a developer chooses to mitigate a developments impact on 
the New Forest through contributing towards the creation and ongoing 
management of the strategic SANG in perpetuity (a minimum of 80 years). 
This process could be formalised through the adoption of a Mitigation for 
Recreational Impacts Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This SPD 
could be used to formalise the Council’s approach to nutrient mitigation, 
including nitrates and phosphates. 

Financial Implications 

21. Initially there are no financial implications of the work required to identify and 
cost suitable SANG as the assessments will be funded from existing 
resources. The development of the designated SANG site(s) will require 
financial investment and this will be the subject of a business case in the 
further report to be brought to Cabinet in the new year. However, at this stage, 
it is anticipated that the costs of creating, managing and monitoring SANG 
sites will be fully funded from developer contributions.  

22. Additionally, there will be a requirement to pay contributions to the 
management and monitoring of visitors to the New Forest undertaken by the 
New Forest National Park Authority, in recognition that Eastleigh residents will 
continue to visit the New Forest and in growing numbers as residential 
development progresses, and therefore potentially adversely impact the New 
Forest SAC and SPA without these management interventions. Again, at this 
stage, it is anticipated that these contributions too will be fully funded from 
developer contributions. 

Risk Assessment 

23. There is no initial risk with using land already in the Council’s control. The risk 
of not introducing this scheme is that housing delivery could stall within the 
Borough as planning application decisions will not be issued.  

98



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

24. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 

25. The proposals contained within this report will have a positive impact on the 
environment by setting aside land in perpetuity to address nitrate issues within 
the region. The management of this land can help to store and lock in carbon. 
Furthermore, by seeking to provide SANG to encourage residents to stay 
within the Borough for their recreational visits, there will be a reduction in car 
journeys to the New Forest (and other destinations).  

Conclusion 

26. The Council, in implementing its planning functions, has a number of legal 
requirements to satisfy. This includes obligations in relation to certain nature 
conservation designations. With regard to the Habitats Regulations and the 
New Forest SAC and SPA, mitigation is required as a result of the in-
combination effect of new housing through recreational pressures. As such an 
interim mitigation package has been proposed to provide a way forward in 
considering applications in the short term. 

27. It is recommended that Cabinet approve the principle of creating SANG within 
the Borough through using land within the Council’s ownership and making 
equitable and proportionate financial contributions to visitor management and 
monitoring schemes within the New Forest. 

SARAH KING 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

 
Date: 01 September 2021 
Contact Officer: Sarah King 
Tel No: 023 80688011 
e-mail: sarah.king@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached:  None   
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 
 

99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	39 Local NHS Consultations'

	6 Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy
	Appendix. 1 for Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy
	Appendix. 2 for Private Sector Housing Financial Assistance Policy

	7 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix. 1 for Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy_v1

	8 Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space Policy

